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Lockheed Martin Corporation 2004 Financial Highlights1
2004

2003

2002

$35,526

$31,824

$26,578

Operating profit from business segments

2,976

2,468

2,020

Consolidated operating profit

2,089

2,019

1,158

Net earnings

1,266

1,053

500

2.83

2.34

1.11

447.1

450.0

452.0

$ 2,924

$ 1,809

$ 2,288

0.91

0.58

0.44

1,456

1,250

2,738

25,554

26,175

26,979

Total debt

5,119

6,208

7,582

Stockholders’ equity

7,021

6,756

5,865

42%

48%

56%

11.9%

10.7%

6.1%

(In millions, except per share data)

Net sales

Earnings per diluted share
Average diluted common shares outstanding
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash dividends per common share
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments
Total assets

Debt-to-total-capital ratio
Return on invested capital2
1

NOTES: For a discussion of matters affecting the comparability of the information presented above, refer to Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations on pages 17 through 38 of this Annual Report.
2
For additional information concerning return on invested capital, including its definition, use and method of calculation, see Consolidated
Financial Data — Five Year Summary on page 69 of this Annual Report.
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We at Lockheed Martin are privileged to serve those who serve, delivering
products and services that are employed in some of the most significant
programs to advance freedom and promote progress for people worldwide.
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From left to right: Christopher E. Kubasik,
Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer; Maryanne R. Lavan,
Vice President, Ethics and Business
Conduct; Arthur E. Johnson, Senior
Vice President, Strategic Development.

From left to right: Linda R. Gooden, President,
Lockheed Martin Information Technology;
Michael F. Camardo, Executive Vice President,
Information & Technology Services.

Dear Fellow Shareholders,
With pride, I am able to report to you the remarkable accomplishments of the 130,000 men and women of Lockheed
Martin over the past year. In extending the fundamentally sound strategy of disciplined growth, this management
team has aligned our core strengths with specifically targeted markets. This approach to managing our business has
resulted in solid sales growth, improved profitability and consistent cash generation.
Lockheed Martin is an extraordinarily innovative enterprise with all the qualities of a premier advanced technology
leader, and we will continue to drive this competitive distinction in the years ahead.
For 2004, we established and met ambitious goals; it was our fourth consecutive year of operating margin
improvement. We increased sales to a record $35.5 billion, a 12 percent increase over 2003, and we can report a
backlog of $74 billion. In 2004, Lockheed Martin also generated a record $2.9 billion in operating cash. Effective
cash deployment remains a priority. Since January 2000, we have reduced our debt from $12 billion to $5 billion,
adding to financial flexibility and strength.
In 2004, we repurchased 14.7 million shares of our common stock, and we have repurchased 26.4 million
shares since late 2002. We also delivered on our commitment to shareholders in 2004 by increasing the
dividend by 14 percent. We view dividends as an important component of shareholder value, and will review
the dividend annually.
Although financial results for the year have well met our expectations, we are far from complacent. In fact,
during 2004, we continued using Return on Invested Capital (ROIC) as one of our key metrics for measuring
financial performance, showing an improvement to 11.9 percent. In 2005, the ROIC performance metric will be
a significant part of the evaluation measures for executive incentive compensation.
Our industry and customers’ environments are constantly changing. We face challenges in 2005 and the years
ahead as defense budgets are adjusted and spending priorities are reconsidered. We are determined to stay ahead of
those changes by continued focus on the performance excellence and technology leadership our customers deserve
and expect.
Over the past year, we have talked about our adherence to an operating principle we call Horizontal Integration —
the practice of making Lockheed Martin truly one company and one team with a unified vision supported by coherent
and aligned business processes. Horizontal Integration means reaching across the breadth of this Corporation to
develop the very best forward-looking solutions for our customers’ needs. In 2004, we applied the experience and
leadership we have resident throughout this Corporation to deliver truly transformational technologies.
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From left to right: Katherine Kerchner, Vice
President, Finance & Business Operations,
Integrated Systems & Solutions; Stan D. Sloane,
Executive Vice President, Integrated Systems
& Solutions; Ron M. Nakamoto, Vice President
& General Manager of Intelligence Systems,
Integrated Systems & Solutions.

For example, we will satisfy a critical military requirement for persistent airborne surveillance and reconnaissance with the Aerial Common Sensor. In addition, the Warfighter Information Network – Tactical (WIN-T) will
provide forces with mobile, high-speed, highly secure communications. We extended our collaboration with industry
on these programs.
These systems directly address the Department of Defense’s priority for network-enabled systems that can bring
new capabilities to the battlespace. The progress we have made in network-enabled capabilities is burnishing our
reputation as a large-scale systems integrator with strengths not only in the platform components of the network but
in all aspects of its architecture.
In 2005, we will open the Lockheed Martin Center for Innovation in Suffolk, Virginia, which will be crucial to
developing the advanced technology solutions of the future. Participants at the Center and at any point in our Global
Vision Network will have simultaneous access to data, simulations and rich analytical tools and processes as they
work together. The Lockheed Martin Center for Innovation is indicative of the passion for invention that runs
through this Corporation at all levels, and our commitment to reinvest in our enterprise. We are a company of
50,000 dedicated engineers and scientists with systems and software engineering capabilities independently assessed
as among the best in the world.
We are committed to the development of new technologies that can be directly applied to the customers’
requirements in any of our three core markets: Defense/Intelligence, Homeland Security and Federal Government
agencies with a focus on Information Technology (IT). With about 25 percent of our sales in the IT field, Lockheed
Martin is the largest provider of IT solutions and services to the U.S. government.
Lockheed Martin management will look for smart acquisitions, but we are setting the bar appropriately high for
quality, strategic fit and return on invested capital. That means we are looking for congruence with core competencies, alignment with our businesses, ease of integration and superior cash returns.
In 2004, we acquired Sippican Holdings Inc., a supplier of naval electronics systems. Sippican’s expertise in
surface ship countermeasures, anti-submarine warfare training and submarine communications systems will enhance
our global capabilities in naval warfare, unmanned underwater vehicles and low-cost manufacturing. Turning to
divestitures, in 2004 we sold our interest in New Skies and Comsat General, two satellite services companies, and
early this year sold our interest in Intelsat. In 2004, we terminated our merger agreement with Titan Corporation, as
Titan did not satisfy all the closing conditions.
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From left to right: Ralph D. Heath, Executive
Vice President, Aeronautics; Lee E. Rhyant,
Executive Vice President and Site General
Manager, Marietta; Tom Burbage, Executive
Vice President and General Manager, F-35 Joint
Strike Fighter Program Integration; June R.
Shrewsbury, Vice President, F-16 Programs.

The past year has been marked not only by financial performance but by strong operational performance
as well. In one program central to U.S. Air Force modernization, the Lockheed Martin-led F/A-22 industry
team reached a new level of program maturity with reliable production, solid performance and expanding
capabilities. The U.S. Air Force recently completed a successful Initial Operational Test and Evaluation,
satisfying the service’s requirement for an advanced air dominance combat aircraft that will be mission-capable
for decades to come.
A Lockheed Martin team also completed key milestones on the Space-Based Infrared System (SBIRS) High,
a next-generation missile warning system. In 2004, Singapore became the 11th nation to participate in the F-35 Joint
Strike Fighter program. The program also began worldwide production to build the first Systems Development and
Demonstration aircraft. The successful Patriot Advanced Capability (PAC-3) flight test program in 2004 validated the
system’s capability to engage multiple missile threats.
We enjoyed some impressive competitive wins in 2004 including:
❚
❚
❚
❚

❚

❚

A contract to design and build the first of the U.S. Navy’s new Littoral Combat Ships
A contract to build the MUOS narrow-band tactical satellite communications system for the U.S. Navy
A five-year Information Technology contract from the Environmental Protection Agency
A seven-year contract to provide information technology support to the Social Security Administration,
continuing a long-term partnership to help the agency meet its challenges for the future
Leadership of a team to provide managed network services — including video, data, voice and wireless —
across the entire U.S. Postal Service under its Universal Computing Connectivity program
The majority of launch vehicle contracts awarded worldwide, including orders for six Atlas V and six
Proton missions

The year did have some disappointments. A U.S. District Court ruling upheld the termination for default of the
Pit 9 environmental remediation contract. The court concluded that Lockheed Martin must repay progress payments
with interest, as well as cover decontamination and decommissioning costs. This impact was reflected in our 2004
financial results.
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From left to right: Tom Marsh, Executive
Vice President, Space Systems; Joanne
M. Maguire, Vice President & Deputy,
Space Systems.

From left to right: Jim Thomas, Vice
President, Operations & Supply Chain
Management; Carol Hulgus, Vice
President of Programs, Lockheed Martin
Maritime Systems & Sensors; Robert B.
Coutts, Executive Vice President,
Electronic Systems.

In a successful company such as ours, every employee shares a vision of how best to serve our customers at
their defining moments. We place a premium on people development and opportunity. Foremost, we are dedicated
to assuring an environment of inclusion, because diversity adds strategic depth to our company and in doing so we
all become stronger. In the coming year, we will continue to focus on talent development, including utilizing the
training facilities of our Center for Leadership Excellence.
No company can address future opportunities successfully without a top-down dedication to ethical and sound
business practices. Ethics is the foundation of our enterprise and is not negotiable. It is a responsibility that cannot
be delegated and belongs to every employee. The world we live in will not accept anything less and neither should
we. As a management team, we want to recognize both Norm Augustine’s and Vance Coffman’s longstanding and
selfless dedication to this enterprise and its shareholders as they retire from the Board this year. We wish them the
best and salute their years of service.
In a post 9/11 world, our customers are counting on us more than ever, not just in distant lands abroad, but
here at home as well. What we do will make a difference to the future of America and the free world. Our men and
women in uniform deserve the very best in product and commitment. We are honored to serve the United States
armed forces and our allies, and I am particularly gratified to report that our company and its employees contributed
more than $600,000 in 2004 to Operation USO Care Package.
In closing, 2004 was a critical year validating that our investments and strategy are aligned with our customers’
vision. Our operational and financial performance reached new levels last year, and we approach 2005 with significant opportunities for growth. We are well positioned to continue to improve earnings and shareholder value.
Powered by innovation and guided by integrity, Lockheed Martin is meeting customer commitments, achieving
schedules, and paying attention to cost and quality — all the basics of business success.
March 1, 2005

Robert J. Stevens
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Lockheed Martin applies
inventive technologies to
programs across our markets.
This is evident in the Littoral
Combat Ship (LCS), which will
be a key element in the U.S.
Navy’s Seapower 21 transformational vision.

▲
We are partners with our customers sharing a
unified vision: to deliver the technologies customers
need to address their most pressing priorities and
achieve success at their defining moments. Service is
at the very core of what we believe. It is exemplified by
the men and women who wear the uniforms of the U.S.
Armed Services and allied nations; those who stand
vigilant in their commitment to homeland security;
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The Aerial Common Sensor (ACS) is the nextgeneration airborne intelligence, surveillance/
reconnaissance and target identification
system. ACS will augment net-enabled operations
for the U.S. Army and Navy, providing our forces
the ability to see the enemy farther, faster and
with greater accuracy.

and those who work for federal government agencies
bringing the government of the people to the people.
At the same time, the men and women of Lockheed
Martin never forget their role as innovators. We are
a company of inventive people with 50,000 scientists
and engineers, and with systems and software
engineering capabilities independently assessed
as among the best in the world.

As our customers adapt quickly to dynamic
challenges, so do we. With that in mind, we draw across
the full breadth of the Corporation to ensure our customers
receive the most comprehensive advanced technology
products and services they require and expect. Through
Horizontal Integration, we can leverage all of Lockheed
Martin’s resources, technical and people, to provide the best
(continued on page 10)
solutions to complex challenges.
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▲
Lockheed Martin’s breadth of experience
in robotic systems is leading to new
and exciting uses of this technology such
as robotic manufacturing on the F-35
Joint Strike Fighter.
The Warfighter Information Network-Tactical (WIN-T)
is the backbone of high-speed voice, data and
video communications for the net-enabled soldier.
Solutions like these are possible by reaching across
the Corporation for the best technologies.

LOCKHEED MARTIN ANNUAL REPORT 2004

The U.S. Air Force’s 21st century
air dominance fighter, the F/A-22, is
unmatched in its combination of stealth,
onboard computing, avionics and
performance — technologies developed
across Lockheed Martin and integrated
to create a truly transformational
combat aircraft.
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Horizontally integrated across
businesses that apply radar, command
and control, launcher and space-based
systems, Lockheed Martin is a leader
in all missile defense domains. The
Medium Extended Air Defense System
(MEADS) (left) is a partnership with
German and Italian industries.

▲
The Multifunction Utility/Logistics Equipment
(MULE) vehicle is an unmanned system that
supports the U.S. Army’s transformation to a
lighter, more mobile force.

Lockheed Martin is truly one company, one team
with a singular focus — to turn data into knowledge and
knowledge into action.
Horizontal Integration becomes particularly critical
as the U.S. Department of Defense rapidly embraces netenabled operations. Lockheed Martin is at the forefront
of net-enabled warfare that connects every aspect of the
battlespace. Lockheed Martin is committed to open,
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An example of netenabled technology,
the space-based Mobile
User Objective System
(MUOS) will provide the
U.S. Navy with global
simultaneous voice, data
and video in real time.

flexible systems that “plug and play’’ with other
technologies; a teaming approach that builds partnerships
with defense and non-defense companies; and a
determination to help customers extend the life of existing
systems by inserting new net-centric technologies.
We understand and analyze the job the customer has
to do, put our solution into that context and then test it to
show its utility. That’s important to the customer and it

Lockheed Martin leverages
automation, optical scanning
technology, systems integration
and computing/software innovations resident throughout the
Corporation to serve the U.S.
Postal Service’s Automated
Package Processing System.

distinguishes Lockheed Martin from the competition.
But the benefits of networks and Horizontal Integration
are not limited to our Defense/Intelligence customers.
In Homeland Security and Government Information Technology and Services, we are working with
government agencies to utilize cutting-edge technologies
so they can better protect the nation and serve the
public more effectively. We have (continued on page 14)
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The Atlas V launcher, equipped
with the Russian RD-180
engine, is an example of the
kinds of global partnerships
that distinguish Lockheed
Martin in the government and
commercial marketplace.

Aerostats represent an innovative technology that can be applied to a variety of missions: missile defense,
homeland security, border protection, and other unmanned reconnaissance and surveillance operations.
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▲

We are leading a team to design and
install a range of security systems for
the Port Authority of New York and New
Jersey that will help guard critical assets
in the war against terror.

Net-enabled solutions are
vital to protecting the homeland.
Lockheed Martin leads an
industry team to recapitalize
the U.S. Coast Guard with
aircraft and ships, as well as
communications, logistics,
and command and control.
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Recognizing that there is no greater
resource for the future than our young
people, we at Lockheed Martin sponsor
an adventure in learning and discovery
called Space Day.

▲
In 2004, the men and women of Lockheed Martin
dedicated more than 680,000 hours of their own
time mentoring in classrooms and participating
actively in other community projects. Also in 2004,
Lockheed Martin and its employees contributed
more than $600,000 to Operation USO Care
Package in support of troops serving in Iraq,
Afghanistan and worldwide.

underscored our commitment to the international space
launch market with our Atlas and Proton family of
launchers, closing 2004 with the 74th consecutive
successful Atlas launch. Our work with the U.S. Coast
Guard, Social Security Administration, Federal Aviation
Administration, U.S. Postal Service, FBI, Environmental
Protection Agency, NASA, Department of Veterans Affairs
and U.S. Customs & Border Protection, as well as many
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The C-130 Hercules airlifter is the backbone of
humanitarian relief efforts worldwide, delivering
food, water, medical supplies, aid workers and
other vital assistance wherever it is needed
in response to natural disasters and other
emergencies. The C-130J conducting a relief
mission (left) is the most advanced of the
Hercules airlifters.

others, demonstrates Lockheed Martin’s leadership as
a systems integrator.
As a corporate citizen, Lockheed Martin is dedicated
to the premise that creating a better world starts at the
local level — in the communities where we live and work.
Lockheed Martin’s commitment to service is reflected
in our mentoring, diversity, education and volunteer
programs. We support achievement in math, science and

engineering through grants and local programs for students
of all grades — from elementary school to university.
Our dedication to the highest standards of ethics
and to developing leadership throughout the Corporation
is a key component of our strength as both a technology
innovator and a corporate citizen. And through diversity,
we add strategic breadth to Lockheed Martin as we
develop the highly skilled workforce of the future.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
December 31, 2004

Reports related to the financial statements and internal
control over financial reporting (pages 39 through 41) —
include the following:
• A report from our management, indicating our responsibility
for financial reporting and the financial statements, and for a
system of internal control over financial reporting and our
assessment of its effectiveness;
• A report from Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, which includes their opinions on
management’s assessment of our internal control over financial reporting and the effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting; and
• A report from Ernst & Young LLP, which includes their opinion on the fair presentation of our financial statements based
on their audits. The report includes their opinion on our
financial statements being in conformity with U.S. Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).

FINANCIAL SECTION ROADMAP
The financial section of our Annual Report includes management’s discussion and analysis, our consolidated financial
statements, notes to those financial statements and a five-year
summary of financial information. We have prepared the following summary, or “roadmap,” to assist in your review of the
financial section. It is designed to give you an overview of our
company and focus your review by directing you to some of the
more important activities and events that occurred this year.
Lockheed Martin’s Business
Lockheed Martin Corporation principally researches, designs,
develops, manufactures, integrates, operates and sustains
advanced technology systems, products and services. We
mainly serve customers in domestic and international defense,
civil markets, and homeland security, and about 80% of our
sales over the past three years have been to agencies of the U.S.
Government. Our main areas of focus are in the defense, space,
intelligence/homeland security, and government information
technology markets. Our commercial activities represent about
4% of our sales in 2004 and primarily relate to launch services
and satellites.
We operate in five principal business segments:
Aeronautics, Electronic Systems, Space Systems, Integrated
Systems & Solutions (IS&S), and Information & Technology
Services (I&TS). As a lead systems integrator, our products and
services range from electronics and information systems,
including integrated net-centric solutions, to missiles, aircraft,
spacecraft and launch services.

Financial statements (pages 42 through 45) — include our
consolidated statements of earnings, cash flows and stockholders’
equity for each of the last three years, and our balance sheet as
of the end of the last two years. Our financial statements are
prepared in accordance with GAAP.
Notes to the financial statements (pages 46 through 68) —
provide insight into and are an integral part of our financial
statements. There are explanations of our significant accounting
policies, details about certain of the captions on the financial
statements, information about significant events or transactions
that have occurred, discussions about legal proceedings, commitments and contingencies and selected financial information
relating to our business segments. The notes to the financial
statements also are prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Financial Section Overview
The financial section includes the following:
Management’s discussion and analysis, or MD&A (pages 17
through 38) — provides management’s view about industry
trends, risks and uncertainties relating to Lockheed Martin,
accounting policies that we view as critical in light of our business, our results of operations, including discussions about the
key performance drivers of each of our business segments,
our financial position and cash flows, commitments and
contingencies, important events or transactions that have
occurred over the last three years, and forward-looking information, as appropriate.
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December 31, 2004

Highlights
The financial section of our Annual Report describes our ongoing operations, including discussions about particular lines of
business or programs, our ability to finance our operating activities and trends and uncertainties in our industry and how they
might affect our future operations. We also discuss those items
affecting our results that were not considered in senior management’s assessment of the operating performance of our business
segments. We separately disclose these items to assist in your
evaluation of our overall operating performance and financial
condition of the consolidated company. We would like to draw
your attention to the following items disclosed in this financial
section and where you will find them:
Topic

Department of Defense (DoD) will reinforce and advance
efforts at the DoD to refocus activities toward joint operations,
net-centric command and control, and integrated capabilities
for the armed forces. To address this customer priority, we
formed the Integrated Systems & Solutions business segment
and established the Center for Innovation to help us better focus
our integrated solutions capabilities across the Corporation and
enhance our ability to serve as a lead partner with the DoD.
The President’s budget for fiscal year 2006 and beyond
represents an agenda for a second term in office, and presents
a framework to reduce the federal budget deficit while aggressively prosecuting the global war on terrorism. The rate of
growth for budget increases at the DoD is reduced, while
spending across non-defense federal agencies is projected to
decline through 2011. These changes in the White House
budget plan reflect a commitment to cut the federal budget
deficit in half by 2009, and sentiment expressed by the
Federal Reserve that sustained federal deficits could hamper
economic growth.
The Future Years Defense Plan (FYDP) submitted with the
President’s budget request for fiscal year 2006 projects a
strong commitment to research and development of transformational capabilities across the military services, while reducing quantities of near-term systems compared to previous
projections. As has been widely reported, the President’s
budget request for fiscal year 2006 includes $419.3 billion for
overall defense spending and proposes reductions in funding
for a number of existing defense programs, including out-year
reductions to the F/A-22 and C-130J programs and termination
in 2006 of the Joint Common Missile and other programs in
which Lockheed Martin participates. We are actively participating in and monitoring discussions regarding these proposals, but are unable to predict the extent to which these
proposals ultimately will be approved as part of the 2006 or
subsequent budgets approved by Congress or what the ultimate
impact on Lockheed Martin would be. Many key decisions on
future program quantities and force structure will be reached
through the QDR and the Base Realignment and Closure
(BRAC) actions to be undertaken in 2005. Budget pressures
within DoD also may create additional opportunities for business process management and outsourcing of service functions
by the military services, expanding the scope of private sector
contracting opportunities at the DoD.
In September 2004, Congress passed an initial $25 billion
supplemental appropriation to defray costs for Operation

Location(s)

Critical accounting policies:
Contract accounting/
revenue recognition
Post-retirement benefit plans
Environmental matters

Page 22
Page 23 and page 58
Page 25, page 48 and page 64

Discussion of business segments

Page 28 and page 65

Liquidity and cash flows

Page 33 and page 44

Capital structure and resources

Page 35, page 43 and page 45

Legal proceedings, commitments
and contingencies
Stock-based compensation

Page 36 and page 62
Page 37, page 49 and page 57

INDUSTRY CONSIDERATIONS
Defense Business Considerations
The markets for defense and related advanced technology systems
for 2005 and beyond will continue to be affected by the global war
on terrorism, through the continued need for military missions and
reconstruction efforts in Iraq and Afghanistan and the related fiscal consequences of war. The realities of the war on terrorism have
focused greater attention on the security of our homeland and better communication and interplay between law enforcement, civil
government agencies, intelligence agencies and our military services. At the same time, our nation’s overall defense posture continues to move toward a more capabilities-based structure, which
creates the ability for a more flexible response with greater force
mobility, stronger space capabilities, enhanced missile defense and
improved information systems capabilities and security.
We anticipate that the next Congressionally mandated
Quadrennial Defense Review (QDR) undertaken by the U.S.
18
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highly visible programs subject to appropriation by Congress
that, because of their size, could be expected to become potential targets for reduction or extension of funding to pay for other
programs. The 2005 QDR will assess current and future capabilities required by the DoD, and may result in program and
force structure changes to be reflected in future defense budget
requests.
We continue to expand our capabilities in critical intelligence, knowledge management and E-Government solutions
for our customers, including the U.S. Social Security
Administration, the Environmental Protection Agency, and the
DoD. We provide program management, business strategy and
consulting, complex systems development and maintenance,
complete life-cycle software support, information assurance
and enterprise solutions. Consistent with the President’s agenda,
the expected growth in business process outsourcing has been
enabled by rule changes for public/private competitions, such as
the recent selection of Lockheed Martin to operate the Federal
Aviation Administration’s Automated Flight Services Station
Network. In addition, recent trends have indicated an increase
in demand by federal and civil government agencies for upgrading and investing in new information technology systems and
solutions. As a result, we continue to focus our resources in support of infrastructure modernization that allows for interoperability and communication across agencies.
In addition, the increase in emphasis on homeland security
may increase demand for our capabilities in areas such as air
traffic management, ports and waterways security, biohazard
detection systems for postal equipment, information systems
security and other technical systems solutions.
During the 1990s, companies in our industry reacted to
shrinking defense budgets for procurement and research and
development by combining to maintain critical mass. More
recently, we have sought to expand into adjacent product lines
such as with the Littoral Combat Ship program and the recently
awarded Marine One U.S. Presidential Helicopter contract. In
addition, we have focused our efforts on select core acquisitions,
cost savings and improving efficiency, as well as generating cash
to repay debt incurred during the period of consolidation.
Through these activities, we have been able to pass along savings
to our customers, mainly the DoD.
Non-U.S. defense budgets have generally been flat or
declining over the past decade. As a result, consolidation has
also been occurring in the European aerospace industry, resulting
in fewer but larger and more capable competitors.

Enduring Freedom and Operation Iraqi Freedom during the first
quarter of fiscal year 2005. The Administration has requested an
additional $80 billion to meet these costs through the remainder
of 2005. These supplemental appropriations enabled the DoD to
proceed on critical modernization and acquisition programs,
versus using amounts available for those programs to pay for the
Iraq and Afghanistan missions. Congress will likely act on this
further 2005 supplemental request by April 2005. While there is
no assurance that additional supplemental appropriations will be
approved by Congress, we do not anticipate that sustained operations in Iraq and Afghanistan will materially impact the procurement and research and development budget levels projected
in the near term.
Our broad mix of programs and capabilities gives us the
ability to support the needs of the various agencies of the U.S.
Government that require our solutions. Our major programs and
capabilities include: missile defense; space intelligence; command, control, communications, computers, intelligence, surveillance and reconnaissance (C4ISR); air mobility aircraft;
and air-power projection/precision-strike capability. In terms
of size and long-term potential impact, two of our more
significant programs are the F/A-22 Raptor and the F-35 Joint
Strike Fighter. The Air Force recently completed the Initial
Operational Test and Evaluation (IOT&E) for the F/A-22 air
dominance, attack and multi-mission combat aircraft. The determination that the Raptor is operationally suitable will permit the
DoD to complete the upcoming Defense Acquisition Board
review which, if successful, will authorize additional production
of the F/A-22.
We are also represented in almost every aspect of land, sea,
air and space-based missile defense, including the AEGIS
Weapon System program, Medium Extended Air Defense
System (MEADS), the Patriot Advanced Capability (PAC-3)
missile program, the Terminal High Altitude Area Defense
(THAAD) system, and the Multiple Kill Vehicle program. In
the areas of space intelligence and information superiority, we
have leadership positions on programs such as the Mobile User
Objective System (MUOS), the Advanced Extremely High
Frequency (AEHF) system, and the Space-Based Infrared
System-High (SBIRS-H), and in classified programs and battle
management command and control capabilities. In airlift, we
have the C-130J program and are under contract to upgrade the
C-5 strategic airlift aircraft. Many of these programs are large
and require funding over several budget cycles. As discussed
earlier, there are risks associated with these and other large,
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Space Business
The commercial launch vehicle marketplace remains very competitive due mainly to lower-than-expected demand for new
satellites as a result of excess capacity in the telecommunications industry. The reduction in demand has resulted in pricing
pressures in both the launch vehicle and satellite markets. We
received new orders for both commercial satellites and launch
vehicles in both 2003 and 2004.
The above factors have impacted orders for our commercial launch vehicles, including the Evolved Expendable Launch
Vehicle (EELV or Atlas V), our next generation launch vehicle
program in which we have made significant investments over
the past few years. The Atlas V is available for both commercial
and U.S. Government use. This program has required investment of funds for research and development, start-up and other
nonrecurring costs, and launch facilities. Some of these expenditures have been funded under an agreement with the U.S.
Government. Commercial orders to-date for the Atlas V launch
vehicle have been lower than originally expected and at lower
prices. However, we have received a total of 19 launch assignments from the U.S. Government (including those described in
the following paragraph), six of which are under contract and in
backlog. The U.S. Government has been awarding missions
incrementally as it continues to develop its acquisition strategy
for future national missions. We had six Atlas launches in 2004,
including our fourth Atlas V commercial launch. As of year-end
2004, the Atlas family of launch vehicles had a record of 74
consecutive successful launches.
In July 2003, the U.S. Air Force announced that our competitor in the EELV competition had violated the Procurement
Integrity Act. As a result of that determination, the Air Force
reassigned seven launch vehicles from the initial competition
(referred to as “Buy I”) to us and removed our exclusion from
West Coast launches. At the same time, the Air Force assigned
us three new West Coast launches. To prepare for these, we are
upgrading West Coast launch facilities, which requires further
investment in the EELV program (see Note 5 to the financial
statements). The investment will be recovered through pricing
of the West Coast launches. The seven reassigned launches are
expected to occur over the 2006 through 2009 time period. It is
currently anticipated that the West Coast launch facilities will
be operational during 2005.

The U.S. Government wants to maintain assured access to
space to the maximum extent possible and has recognized the
need to fund additional EELV infrastructure costs created by
the weaker-than-originally-anticipated commercial market for
launch services. The assured access monies approved in the
2005 defense budget will cover a portion of these costs. There
is no assurance that the assured access funding provided for in
the President’s fiscal year 2006 budget request will be approved
by Congress.
Lockheed-Khrunichev-Energia International, Inc. (LKEI),
a joint venture we have with two Russian government-owned
space firms, has exclusive rights to market launches of commercial, non-Russian-origin space payloads on the Proton family of rockets from a launch site in Kazakhstan. Commercial
Atlas and Proton launch services are marketed around the world
through International Launch Services (ILS), a joint venture
between Lockheed Martin and LKEI. We consolidate the results
of operations of LKEI and ILS into our financial statements
based on our controlling financial interest. We received six new
awards for launches on Proton vehicles in 2004. Contracts for
launch services usually require substantial advances from the
customer prior to launch. At the end of 2004, $348 million of
advances received from customers for Proton launch services
not yet provided was included as a liability in our balance sheet
in customer advances and amounts in excess of costs incurred.
A sizeable percentage of the advances we receive from customers for Proton launch services are sent to Khrunichev State
Research and Production Space Center (Khrunichev), the manufacturer of the launch vehicle and provider of the related
launch services in Russia. If a contracted launch service is not
provided, a sizeable percentage of the related advance would
have to be refunded to our customer. In addition, we have sent
advances to Khrunichev for launches we purchased which have
not yet been assigned to our customers. The advances sent to
Khrunichev are included on our balance sheet in inventories.
Advances for launches not under contract are subject to an
agreement entered into in 2002 which provides for reduced
future launch payments from us to Khrunichev, contingent on
the receipt of new orders as well as a minimum number of
actual launches each year. At year-end 2004, payments to
Khrunichev included in inventories totaled $301 million. Our
ability to realize the remaining amounts may be affected by
Khrunichev’s ability to provide the launch services and the
political environment in Russia. Through the end of 2004,
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Other Business Considerations
As a government contractor, we are subject to U.S. Government
oversight. The government may ask about and investigate our
business practices and audit our compliance with applicable
rules and regulations. Depending on the results of those audits
and investigations, the government could make claims against
us. Under government procurement regulations and practices,
an indictment of a government contractor could result in that
contractor being fined and/or suspended from being able to bid
on, or be awarded, new government contracts for a period of
time. A conviction could result in debarment for a specific period
of time. Similar government oversight exists in most other
countries where we conduct business. Although we cannot predict the outcome of these types of investigations and inquiries
with certainty, based on current facts, we do not believe that any
of the claims, audits or investigations pending against us are
likely to have a material adverse effect on our business or our
results of operations, cash flows or financial position.
Changes in government procurement policies and practices
over the past several years, such as increases in the progress
payment rate and the use of performance-based payments, have
had a positive effect on our financial position and cash flows.
But we are still exposed to risks associated with U.S.
Government contracting, including technological uncertainties,
dependence on fewer manufacturing suppliers and obsolescence, as well as Congressional appropriation and allotment of
funds each year. Many of our programs involve the development and application of state-of-the-art technologies aimed at
achieving challenging goals. As a result, setbacks, delays, cost
growth and product failures can occur.
We provide products and services to government agencies
such as the Departments of Energy, Homeland Security, Justice,
and Health and Human Services, the U.S. Postal Service, the
Social Security Administration, the Federal Aviation
Administration, the National Aeronautics and Space
Administration (NASA), the U.S. Coast Guard and the
Transportation Security Administration. Although our lines of
business addressing civil government needs are not dependent
on defense budgets, they share many of the same risks as our
defense businesses, as well as other risks unique to the particular
programs. Although indemnification by the U.S. Government to
cover potential claims or liabilities resulting from a failure
of technologies developed and deployed may be available in
some instances for our defense businesses, U.S. Government

launch services through LKEI and ILS have been provided
according to contract terms.
The Corporation has entered into an agreement with RD
AMROSS, a joint venture of the Pratt & Whitney division of
United Technologies Corporation and the Russian firm NPO
Energomash, for the purchase, subject to certain conditions, of
RD-180 booster engines for use in the Corporation’s Atlas
launch vehicles. Terms of the agreement call for payments to be
made to RD AMROSS upon the achievement of certain milestones in the manufacturing process. Payments of $64 million
made under this agreement for engines not yet delivered were
included in the Corporation’s inventories at December 31, 2004.
In prior years, the U.S. Department of State has authorized
one year International Traffic in Arms Regulations (ITAR)
license extensions authorizing Lockheed Martin to have discussions with NPO Energomash on the RD-180 Engine and its use
on the Atlas V launch vehicle. In 2004, the U.S. Department of
State issued a three year license extension, therefore mitigating
the need for the annual license renewal process, and providing
for longer term stability for Atlas V sales. In addition, the Proton
launch services license also was extended for three years.
As discussed above, the commercial satellite market has
continued to experience pricing pressures due to excess capacity.
However, in the past two years, we have received seven commercial satellite orders and are in active discussions for additional satellite orders. We expect to continue to control costs in
our commercial satellite manufacturing business while keeping
our focus on providing a reliable product. In addition to commercial activity, we also have received new orders for government satellites in 2004 including the MUOS program and
certain classified activities. A significant portion of the work on
the MUOS program will be performed in our commercial satellite manufacturing facility.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Contract Accounting / Revenue Recognition
A large part of our business is derived from long-term contracts
for development, production and service activities which we
account for consistent with the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants’ (AICPA) audit and accounting guide,
Audits of Federal Government Contractors, the AICPA’s
Statement of Position 81-1, Accounting for Performance of
Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts, and
other relevant revenue recognition accounting literature. We
consider the nature of these contracts and the types of products
and services provided when we determine the proper accounting for a particular contract.
Generally, we record long-term, fixed-price contracts on
a percentage of completion basis using units-of-delivery as
the basis to measure progress toward completing the contract
and recognizing sales. For example, we use this method of
revenue recognition on our C-130J tactical transport aircraft
program, Atlas and Proton launch vehicle programs, and
Multiple Launch Rocket System program. For certain other
long-term, fixed-price contracts that, along with other factors,
require us to deliver minimal quantities over a longer period
of time or to perform a substantial level of development effort
in comparison to the total value of the contract, sales are
recorded when we achieve performance milestones or using
the cost-to-cost method to measure progress toward completion. Under the cost-to-cost method of accounting, we recognize sales based on the ratio of costs incurred to our estimate
of total costs at completion. As examples, we use this methodology for our F/A-22 Raptor program and the AEGIS
Weapon System program. In some instances, long-term production programs may require a significant level of development and/or a low level of initial production units in their
early phases, but will ultimately require delivery of increased
quantities in later, full rate production stages. In those cases,
the revenue recognition methodology may change from the
cost-to-cost method to the units-of-delivery method after considering, among other factors, program and production stability.
As we incur costs under cost-reimbursement-type contracts,
we record sales. Cost-reimbursement-type contracts include
time and materials and other level-of-effort-type contracts.
Examples of this type of revenue recognition include the F-35
Joint Strike Fighter system development and demonstration
(SDD) program and the THAAD missile defense program.

indemnification may not be available for homeland security
purposes. While we maintain insurance for some business risks,
it is not possible to obtain coverage to protect against all operational risks and liabilities. We do plan to seek, and in certain
cases have obtained, limitation of such potential liabilities
related to the sale and use of our homeland security products
and services through qualification by the Department of
Homeland Security under the “SAFETY Act” provisions of the
Homeland Security Act of 2002. During 2004, we received
SAFETY Act approvals for two such activities. In the event we
were to provide homeland security-related products and services
to a customer without such qualification, we would not be
afforded the benefit of the SAFETY Act’s cap on tort liability
or U.S. Government indemnification. Other risks unique to the
civil government markets may include development of competing products, technological feasibility and product obsolescence.
We provide products and services to NASA, including the
Space Shuttle program, mainly through our Space Systems and
Information & Technology Services business segments. We also
have a 50% equity interest in United Space Alliance, LLC
which provides ground processing and other operational services
to the Space Shuttle program. We are committed to securing
return to flight of the Space Shuttle in 2005. We expect to compete for NASA programs related to the new Space Exploration
Vision announced by the President and funded by Congress for
fiscal year 2005.
We have entered into various joint venture, teaming and
other business arrangements to help support our portfolio of
products and services in many of our lines of business, including commercial space. Some of these business arrangements
include foreign partners. The conduct of international business
introduces other risks into our operations, including changing
economic conditions, fluctuations in relative currency values,
regulation by foreign countries and the potential for unanticipated cost increases resulting from the possible deterioration of
political relations.
The nature of our international business also makes us subject to the export control regulations of the U.S. Department of
State and the Department of Commerce. If these regulations are
violated, it could result in monetary penalties and denial of
export privileges. We are currently unaware of any violations of
export control regulations which are reasonably likely to have a
material adverse effect on our business or our results of operations, cash flows or financial position.
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FAR provides guidance on the types of costs that are allowable
in establishing prices for goods and services under U.S.
Government contracts. For example, costs such as those related
to charitable contributions, advertising, interest expense, and
public relations are unallowable, and therefore not recoverable
through sales. In addition, we may enter into agreements with
the U.S. Government that address the subjects of allowability
and allocability of costs to contracts for specific matters. For
example, some of the amounts we spend for groundwater treatment and soil remediation related to discontinued operations
and sites operated in prior years are allocated to our current
operations as general and administrative costs under agreements reached with the U.S. Government.
Products and services provided under long-term development and production contracts make up a large portion of our
business. Therefore, the amounts we record in our financial
statements using contract accounting methods and cost
accounting standards are material. Because of the significance
of the judgments and estimation processes, it is likely that materially different amounts could be recorded if we used different
assumptions or if the underlying circumstances were to change.
When adjustments in estimated contract revenues or costs are
required, any changes from prior estimates are generally
included in earnings in the current period. We closely monitor
compliance with and the consistent application of our critical
accounting policies related to contract accounting. Business
segment personnel assess the status of contracts through periodic contract status and performance reviews. Also, regular and
recurring evaluations of contract cost, scheduling and technical
matters are performed by management personnel separately
from the business segment performing work under the contract.
Costs incurred and allocated to contracts with the U.S.
Government are reviewed for compliance with regulatory standards by our personnel, and are subject to audit by the Defense
Contract Audit Agency.

Most of our long-term contracts are denominated in U.S.
dollars, including contracts for sales of military products and
services to foreign governments conducted through the U.S.
Government (i.e., foreign military sales).
As a general rule, we recognize sales and profits earlier in
a production cycle when we use the cost-to-cost and milestone
methods of percentage of completion accounting than when we
use the units-of-delivery method. In addition, our profits and
margins may vary materially depending on the types of longterm government contracts undertaken, the costs incurred in
their performance, the achievement of other performance
objectives, and the stage of performance at which the right to
receive fees, particularly under incentive and award fee contracts, is finally determined. We have accounting policies in
place to address these as well as other contractual and business
arrangements in accounting for long-term contracts. For other
information on accounting policies we have in place for recognizing sales and profits, see our discussion under “Sales and
earnings” in Note 1 to the financial statements.
Contract accounting requires judgment relative to assessing risks, estimating contract revenues and costs, and making
assumptions for schedule and technical issues. Due to the size
and nature of many of our contracts, the estimation of total revenue and cost at completion is complicated and subject to many
variables. Contract costs include material, labor and subcontracting costs, as well as an allocation of indirect costs.
Assumptions have to be made regarding the length of time to
complete the contract because costs also include expected
increases in wages and prices for materials. For contract change
orders, claims or similar items, we apply judgment in estimating the amounts and assessing the potential for realization.
These amounts are only included in contract value when they
can be reliably estimated and realization is considered probable.
Incentives and award fees related to performance on contracts,
which are generally awarded at the discretion of the customer,
as well as penalties related to contract performance, are considered in estimating sales and profit rates. Incentives and penalties are recorded when there is sufficient information for us to
assess anticipated performance. Award fees are recorded based
on actual awards and anticipated performance.
The majority of our sales are driven by pricing based on
costs incurred to produce products or perform services under
contracts with the U.S. Government, and therefore not necessarily on market-based factors. Cost-based pricing is determined under the Federal Acquisition Regulations (FAR). The

Post-Retirement Benefit Plans
Most employees are covered by defined benefit pension plans
(pension plans), and we provide health care and life insurance
benefits to eligible retirees. Our earnings may be negatively or
positively impacted by the amount of expense or income we
record for our employee benefit plans. This is particularly true
with expense or income for pension plans because those calculations are sensitive to changes in several key economic assumptions and workforce demographics.
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exceeds the fair value of the plan assets, after adjusting for previously recorded accrued or prepaid pension cost for the plan,
must be recorded as a minimum pension liability, with a corresponding increase in an intangible asset, if appropriate, and a
reduction to stockholders’ equity. In 2004, the adjustment we
recorded reduced stockholders’ equity by about $275 million,
mainly due to the change in the discount rate at December 31,
2004. This comes after stockholders’ equity increased by about
$300 million from the adjustment made in 2003, mainly due to
favorable asset returns for the year. At the end of 2002, the
adjustment reduced stockholders’ equity by $1.5 billion. These
minimum pension liability adjustments did not impact earnings. The amount of the minimum pension liability is computed
at each year-end and could decrease or increase depending on
changes in interest rates and other factors.
U.S. Government Cost Accounting Standards (CAS) are a
major factor in determining our funding requirements and govern the extent to which our pension costs are allocable to and
recoverable under contracts with the U.S. Government. Funded
amounts are recovered over time through the pricing of our
products and services on U.S. Government contracts, and therefore are recognized in our net sales. The total funding requirement for pension plans under CAS in 2004 was $289 million.
For 2005, we expect our funding requirements under CAS to
increase. Also in 2005, funding in addition to the amount calculated under CAS will likely be required under Internal
Revenue Code rules. Any additional amounts computed under
those rules are considered to be prepayments under the CAS
rules, and therefore are recorded on our balance sheet and
recovered in future periods. In 2004 and 2003, we made discretionary prepayments of $485 million and $450 million, respectively, to the pension trust, which reduced or will reduce our
cash funding requirements in the following year.
The FAS/CAS pension adjustment represents the difference between pension expense calculated in accordance with
FAS 87 and pension costs calculated and funded in accordance
with CAS. Since the CAS expense is recovered through the
pricing of our products and services on U.S. Government contracts, and therefore recognized in a particular segment’s net
sales, the results of operations of our segments only include
pension expense as determined and funded in accordance with
CAS rules. Accordingly, the FAS/CAS adjustment is an amount
included in the reconciliation of total segment operating profit
to consolidated operating profit under GAAP. See the discus-

We account for our pension plans using Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (FAS) 87, Employers’
Accounting for Pensions. Those rules require that the
amounts we record, including the expense or income for the
plans, be computed using actuarial valuations. These valuations include many assumptions, including assumptions we
make relating to financial market and other economic conditions. Changes in key economic indicators can result in
changes in the assumptions we use. The key year-end
assumptions used to estimate pension expense or income for
the following fiscal year are the discount rate, the expected
long-term rate of return on plan assets and the rate of
increase in future compensation levels.
We use judgment in reassessing these assumptions each
year because we have to consider current market conditions
and, in the case of the expected long-term rate of return on plan
assets, past investment experience, judgments about future market trends, changes in interest rates and equity market performance. We also have to consider factors like the timing and
amounts of expected contributions to the plans and benefit payments to plan participants.
An example of how changes in these assumptions can
affect our financial statements occurred in 2004. We reassess
the discount rate assumption at the end of each year. Based on
our review of interest rates at the end of the year, we lowered
our discount rate assumption to 5.75% at year-end 2004, compared to 6.25% used at the end of 2003. This change, together
with other factors such as the effects of the actual return on
plan assets over the past few years, resulted in our projecting
that the amount of pension expense for 2005 will increase by
approximately 25% to 30% as compared to 2004 expense. The
change in the discount rate is the main factor causing this
result. The decrease of 50 basis points in the discount rate
increased the estimated 2005 pension expense by approximately $160 million. This annual review of our pension plan
assumptions also affects the pension liability recorded in our
balance sheet.
At the end of each of the last three years, we recorded a
noncash after-tax adjustment in the stockholders’ equity section
of our balance sheet to reflect a minimum pension liability for
most of our pension plans. These adjustments were calculated
on a plan-by-plan basis, and were determined by comparing the
accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) for each plan to the fair
value of that plan’s assets. The amount by which the ABO
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plete activities at a particular environmental site cannot be estimated by reference to agreements or otherwise, we project costs
over a reasonable time frame not to exceed 20 years. Given the
level of judgment and estimation which has to occur, it is likely
that materially different amounts could be recorded if different
assumptions were used or if circumstances were to change (e.g.,
a change in environmental standards).
If we are ultimately found to have liability at those sites
where we have been designated a PRP, we expect that the actual
costs of remediation will be shared with other liable PRPs.
Generally, PRPs that are ultimately determined to be responsible parties are strictly liable for site clean-up and usually agree
among themselves to share, on an allocated basis, the costs and
expenses for investigation and remediation of hazardous materials. Under existing environmental laws, however, responsible
parties are jointly and severally liable and, therefore, we are
potentially liable for the full cost of funding such remediation.
In the unlikely event that we were required to fund the entire
cost of such remediation, the statutory framework provides that
we may pursue rights of contribution from the other PRPs. The
amounts we record do not reflect the fact that we may recover
some of the environmental costs we have incurred through
insurance or from other PRPs, which we are required to pursue
by agreement and U.S. Government regulation.
Under agreements reached with the U.S. Government, some
of the amounts we spend for groundwater treatment and soil
remediation are allocated to our operations as general and administrative costs. Under existing government regulations, these and
other environmental expenditures relating to our U.S.
Government business, after deducting any recoveries received
from insurance or other PRPs, are allowable in establishing prices
of our products and services. As a result, a substantial amount of
the expenditures we incur are being included in our sales and cost
of sales according to U.S. Government agreement or regulation.
At the end of 2004, the total amount of liabilities recorded
on our balance sheet for environmental matters was approximately $420 million. About 60% of the liability relates to sites
in Redlands, Burbank and Glendale, California, and in Great
Neck, New York, mainly for remediation of soil and groundwater contamination. The remainder of the liability related to
other properties (including current operating facilities and certain facilities operated in prior years) for which our obligation
is probable and the financial exposure can be estimated. We
have recorded an asset for the portion of environmental costs

sion of “Net Unallocated Corporate (Expense) Income” under
“Discussion of Business Segments.”
The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003 (the Act) was signed into law in
December 2003. Under the Act, Medicare will provide a prescription drug benefit beginning in 2006. Based on current estimates and pending review of the final regulations related to the
Act, we calculated a reduction in our retiree healthcare benefit
obligation of $295 million at December 31, 2004. The impact on
net earnings of the reduction in the net periodic post-retirement
benefits cost for 2005, after application of government contracting regulations, is not expected to be material.
Environmental Matters
We are a party to various agreements, proceedings and potential proceedings for environmental clean-up issues, including
matters at various sites where we have been designated a potentially responsible party (PRP) by the Environmental Protection
Agency or by a state agency. We record financial statement
accruals for environmental matters in the period that it becomes
probable that a liability has been incurred and the amounts
can be reasonably estimated (see the discussion under
“Environmental matters” in Note 1 to the financial statements).
Judgment is required when we develop assumptions and estimate costs expected to be incurred for environmental remediation activities due to, along with other factors, difficulties in
assessing the extent of environmental remediation to be performed, complex environmental regulations and remediation
technologies, and agreements between PRPs to share in the cost
of remediation as discussed below.
We enter into agreements (e.g., administrative orders, consent decrees) which document the extent and timing of our obligation. We are also involved in remediation activities at
environmental sites where formal agreements exist but do not
quantify the extent and timing of our obligation. Environmental
clean-up activities usually cover several years, which makes
estimating the costs more judgmental due to, for example,
changing remediation technologies. To determine the costs
related to clean-up sites, we have to assess the extent of contamination, the appropriate technology to be used to accomplish the remediation and continually evolving regulatory
environmental standards. We consider these factors in our estimates of the timing and amount of any future costs that may be
required for remediation actions. In cases where a date to com-
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Since our operating cycle is long-term and involves many types
of development and production contracts with varying production delivery schedules, the results of operations of a particular
year, or year-to-year comparisons of recorded sales and profits,
may not be indicative of future operating results. The following
discussions of comparative results among periods should be
viewed in this context. All per share amounts cited in this discussion are presented on a “per diluted share” basis.

that are probable of future recovery in pricing of our products
and services for U.S. Government businesses. The amount that
is expected to be allocated to our commercial businesses has
been expensed through cost of sales. Any recoveries we receive
would reduce the allocated amounts included in our future U.S.
Government sales and cost of sales.
ACQUISITION AND DIVESTITURE ACTIVITIES
We continuously strive to strengthen our portfolio of products
and services to meet the current and future needs of our customers. This is accomplished internally, through our independent
research and development activities or with acquisitions. We
selectively pursue the acquisition of businesses that complement our current portfolio and allow expansion into adjacent
markets or access to new technologies. We have made a number
of such niche acquisitions during the past several years.
In February 2005, we entered into a definitive agreement to
acquire The SYTEX Group, Inc. (TSGI) for net consideration
of $462 million. TSGI provides information technology solutions
and technical support services to the DoD and other federal
agencies. The transaction is subject to government approvals,
including a review under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust
Improvements Act and satisfaction of other closing conditions.
We expect the transaction will close in early 2005.
In June 2004, we terminated our September 2003 merger
agreement, as amended, with The Titan Corporation, as certain
closing conditions were not met on or before June 25, 2004 as
required.
We may also explore the sale of non-core businesses and
surplus real estate. If we were to decide to sell any such businesses or real estate, the resulting gains, if any, would be
recorded when the transactions are consummated and losses, if
any, would be recorded when the value of the related asset is
determined to be impaired.

Net Sales
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$40
35
30
25
20
15

I&TS
IS&S
Space Systems
Electronic Systems
Aeronautics

10
5
0

2004

2003

2002

The following discussion of net sales and operating results
will provide an overview of our operations by focusing on key
elements set forth in our statement of earnings. The
“Discussion of Business Segments” which follows, will
describe the contributions of each of our business segments to
our consolidated results for 2004, 2003 and 2002.
For 2004, net sales were $35.5 billion, a 12% increase over
2003 sales. Sales for 2003 were $31.8 billion, an increase of
20% compared to 2002. Sales increased in all segments as compared to the prior year for the third straight year. The U.S.
Government is our largest customer, accounting for about 80%
of our sales for 2004, compared to 78% in 2003 and 80% in
2002. For 2004, 2003 and 2002 the operating (loss) profit items
in the table below, in addition to other items, were included in
“Net Unallocated Corporate (Expense) Income” (see the related
“Discussion of Business Segments” below).
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(In millions, except per share data)

Operating
Net
(Loss)
(Loss)
(Loss)
Earnings
Profit
Earnings Per Share

Our effective tax rates were 23.9% for 2004, 31.3% for
2003 and 7.7% for 2002. A $144 million reduction in our
income tax expense primarily resulting from the closure of an
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) examination reduced our 2004
tax rate. A $90 million tax benefit related to settlement of a
research and development tax credit claim reduced our tax rate
for 2002. Tax benefits related to export sales, tax refund initiatives, and adjustments to true-up actual tax return liabilities
reduced our tax rate for each of the three years.
Recently enacted tax legislation has repealed the
Extraterritorial Income (ETI) exclusion relating to export sales.
Over a transition period beginning in 2005, the new tax rules
phase-out the ETI exclusion benefit and provide for a new tax
deduction in computing profits from the sale of products manufactured in the United States. The tax benefit we realize from
the new legislation is expected to be substantially equivalent to
the benefit we realized under the repealed ETI exclusion.
Net earnings increased as compared to the prior year for
the third straight year. We reported net earnings of $1.3 billion
($2.83 per share) in 2004, compared to net earnings of $1.1 billion ($2.34 per share) in 2003. Net earnings for 2002 were
$500 million ($1.11 per share), and reflected losses from
discontinued operations of $33 million ($0.07 per share).

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004

Charge for Pit 9 litigation
$ (180)
Charge for early retirement of debt
(154)
Gain on sale of interest in New Skies
91
Gain on sale of COMSAT General
business
28
Benefit from closure of an
IRS examination
—

$(117)
(100)
59

$(0.26)
(0.22)
0.13

4

0.01

144

0.32

$ (215)

$ (10)

$(0.02)

$ (146)

$ (96)

$(0.21)

(41)

(27)

(0.06)

19

13

0.03

15

8

0.02

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003

Charge for early retirement of debt
Charge related to exit from the
commercial mail sorting business
Gain on partial reversal of Space
Imaging charge
Gain on sale of the commercial
IT business

$ (153)

$(102)

$(0.22)

$ (776)

$(504)

$(1.12)

(173)

(112)

(0.25)

(163)

(106)

(0.23)

—

90

0.20

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002

Write-down of telecommunications
investments
Charge related to a Russian launch
services provider
Write-down of investment in Space
Imaging and charge related to
recording of guarantee
Benefit from R&D tax
credit settlement

$(1,112)

$(632)

$(1.40)

Our operating profit for 2004 was $2.1 billion, an increase
of 3% compared to 2003. Our operating profit for 2003 was
$2.0 billion, an increase of 74% compared to 2002.
Interest expense for 2004 was $425 million, $62 million
lower than in 2003 mainly due to reductions in our debt portfolio. Interest expense for 2003 was $487 million, $94 million
lower than the amount for 2002. This was primarily the result of
reductions in our debt portfolio and the favorable impact of
having issued $1.0 billion of floating rate convertible notes in
August 2003 to replace higher cost fixed rate debt.
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DISCUSSION OF BUSINESS SEGMENTS
We operate in five business segments: Aeronautics, Electronic
Systems, Space Systems, Integrated Systems & Solutions
(IS&S) and Information & Technology Services (I&TS).
Net sales have increased in each of our business segments
over the last three years. Our demonstrated performance and
broad portfolio of capabilities have contributed to this growth.
In the Aeronautics business segment, sales growth has been
driven by Combat Aircraft activities, which made up over 80%
of this business segment’s revenue. Sales on the F-35 Joint
Strike Fighter program have increased as we completed the
third full year on the SDD contract. During 2004, we initiated a
weight reduction effort focusing on the Short Take-Off Vertical
Landing (STOVL) variant of the aircraft. Approximately 3,000
pounds were removed from the STOVL design and significant
weight-savings were applied to the other two variants. The F/A-22
program has contributed to our sales growth as we continue to
build aircraft under low-rate initial production contracts. In
2004, 15 F/A-22s, our highest annual total to date on the program, were delivered including the final six Production Lot 1
aircraft and the first nine Production Lot 2 aircraft. Activities on
our F-16 programs increased as we delivered 83 aircraft during
2004 as compared to 62 aircraft in 2003. Activity on the C-130J
program included delivery of 13 aircraft in 2004, which represented the near completion of the initial 119 aircraft program
and delivery of the first two aircraft under the multi-year award
for 60 aircraft that was received in 2003. We began to recognize
profits on the 13 C-130J aircraft delivered in 2004.
The Electronic Systems business segment has a broad portfolio of products and services. Many of its activities involve a
combination of both development and production contracts with
varying delivery schedules. The mix of contract types varies, and
we expect this to continue in the short term; it may affect the
year-to-year comparisons of segment margins and the operating
results of the lines of businesses within Electronic Systems.

The Space Systems business segment is a key supplier of
space solutions, primarily to our U.S. Government customers.
Satellites and Strategic & Defensive Missile System activities
are expected to experience steady growth. The commercial
satellite and launch vehicle industries continue to be very competitive, with resulting pricing pressures. The activities in the
Titan launch vehicle program will continue, though at a lower
level than prior years, as we work to complete the remaining
two U.S. Government missions.
The IS&S and I&TS business segments continue to focus
their capabilities in providing information technology services
to defense, intelligence and other government customers. We
expect continued strong growth in providing information technology solutions to government agencies.
In the following tables of financial data, the total of the
operating results of the business segments is reconciled to the
corresponding consolidated amount. With respect to the caption
“Operating profit,” the reconciling item “Net unallocated
Corporate expense” includes the FAS/CAS pension adjustment
(see discussion below), earnings and losses from equity investments, interest income, costs for certain stock-based compensation programs, the effects of items not considered part of
management’s evaluation of segment operating performance,
and Corporate costs not allocated to the operating segments, as
well as other miscellaneous Corporate activities.
The FAS/CAS pension adjustment represents the difference between pension expense or income calculated for financial reporting purposes in accordance with FAS 87, and pension
costs calculated and funded in accordance with U.S.
Government CAS, which are reflected in the business segment
results. CAS is a major factor in determining our pension funding requirements, and governs the extent of allocability and
recoverability of pension costs on government contracts. The
CAS expense is recovered through the pricing of our products
and services on U.S. Government contracts, and therefore recognized in segment net sales. The results of operations of the
segments only include pension expense as determined and
funded in accordance with CAS rules.
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negotiated backlog was $74 billion at December 31, 2004. This
amount included both funded backlog (unfilled firm orders for
which funding has been both authorized and appropriated by
the customer - Congress in the case of U.S. Government agencies) and unfunded backlog (firm orders for which funding has
not yet been appropriated). Negotiated backlog does not include
unexercised options or task orders to be issued under indefinitedelivery/indefinite-quantity (IDIQ) type contracts. Funded
backlog was approximately $40.2 billion at December 31, 2004.
The Aeronautics segment generally includes fewer programs
that have much larger sales and operating results than programs
included in the other segments. Therefore, due to the large number of comparatively smaller programs in the remaining segments,
the discussions of the results of operations of these business segments generally focus on lines of business within the segments
rather than on specific programs. The following tables of financial
information and related discussions of the results of operations of
our business segments are consistent with the presentation of segment information in Note 15 to the financial statements.

This table shows net sales and operating profit of the business segments and reconciles to the consolidated total.
(In millions)

2004

2003

2002

$10,202
8,991
6,021
3,420

$ 6,471
8,685
5,287
3,015

3,174

3,104

35,513

31,808

26,562

13

16

16

$35,526

$31,824

$26,578

$

$

NET SALES
Aeronautics
$11,781
Electronic Systems
9,724
Space Systems
6,357
Integrated Systems & Solutions
3,850
Information & Technology
Services
3,801
Total business segments
Other

OPERATING PROFIT
Aeronautics
$
Electronic Systems
Space Systems
Integrated Systems & Solutions
Information & Technology
Services
Total business segments

899
969
489
334

690
858
403
291

448
875
279
241

285

226

177

2,976

2,468

2,020

Aeronautics
Aeronautics’ operating results included the following:
(In millions)

Net unallocated Corporate expense

(887)
$ 2,089

(449)
$ 2,019

(862)

Net sales
Operating profit
Backlog at year-end

$ 1,158

Segment Operating Profit
$3,000

2,500

2,000

1,500

I&TS
IS&S
Space Systems
Electronic Systems
Aeronautics

500

0

2004

2003

2003

2002

$11,781
899
30,489

$10,202
690
37,580

$ 6,471
448
35,477

Net sales for Aeronautics increased by 15% in 2004 compared
to 2003. The majority of the increase in sales, $1.5 billion, was due
to higher volume on the F-35 Joint Strike Fighter, F-16 and F/A-22
Combat Aircraft programs. In 2004, 83 F-16s were delivered, 21
more than in 2003. The remaining increase in sales was mainly due
to higher C-5 activities in Air Mobility. There were 13 C-130J
deliveries in 2004 compared to 15 deliveries in 2003.
Net sales for Aeronautics increased by 58% in 2003 compared to 2002 due to growth in Combat Aircraft and Air
Mobility. Approximately half the growth in Combat Aircraft was
due to higher volume on the F-35 program with a majority of the
remaining growth attributable to F-16 programs as a result of
increased deliveries. In 2003, 62 F-16s were delivered, 41 more
than in 2002. Increased C-130J deliveries contributed $470 million to the year-over-year growth in sales. There were 15 C-130J
deliveries in 2003 compared to eight deliveries in 2002.

(In millions)

1,000

2004

2002

The following segment discussions also include information relating to negotiated backlog for each segment. Total
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programs. The PT&TS decline of $100 million was the result of
lower volume on transportation and security system activities. The
majority of this decline is attributable to the 2002 rapid deployment of Transportation Security Administration (TSA) programs.
Operating profit for the segment increased by 13% in 2004
compared to 2003. Operating profit increased $145 million due
to improved performance on tactical missile and fire control
programs at M&FC and on radar programs at MS2. The
decrease in operating profit at PT&TS was due to a $25 million
loss provision recorded in the third quarter of 2004 on certain
international simulation and training contracts.
Operating profit for the segment decreased by 2% in 2003
compared to 2002. PT&TS’ operating profit declined by $40
million due to a changing mix of program maturity and initial
development activities on platform integration programs, as
well as the impact of the decline in volume in transportation and
security system activities. These decreases more than offset a
$25 million increase in operating profit primarily attributable to
higher volume on air defense programs at M&FC.
The increase in backlog during 2004 over 2003 resulted
from increased orders on development programs.

Operating profit for the segment increased by 30% in 2004
compared to 2003. Combat Aircraft operating profit increased
$95 million primarily as a result of higher sales volume on the
programs discussed above and improved performance on the
F/A-22 program. The remaining increase was primarily attributable to $85 million in operating profit recognized on the
C-130Js delivered in 2004. The Corporation began recognizing
profits on C-130J deliveries in 2004 upon resolution of certain
technical aircraft performance risks, manufacturing performance improvements and the achievement of stable production as
a result of securing a multi-year contract in 2003.
Operating profit for the segment increased by 54% in 2003
compared to 2002. This increase was primarily due to the impact
of the volume increases in Combat Aircraft and performance on
other programs. In 2003 and 2002, the C-130J deliveries did not
impact operating profit due to the previously disclosed suspension
of earnings recognition on the program.
Backlog decreased in 2004 as compared to 2003 primarily
as a result of sales volume on the F-35 and F-16 programs as
well as deliveries of C-130J aircraft.
Electronic Systems
Electronic Systems’ operating results included the following:
(In millions)

Net sales
Operating profit
Backlog at year-end

2004

2003

2002

$ 9,724
969
18,239

$ 8,991
858
17,339

$ 8,685
875
16,034

Space Systems
Space Systems’ operating results included the following:
(In millions)

Net sales
Operating profit
Backlog at year-end

Net sales for Electronic Systems increased 8% in 2004 as
compared to 2003. The increase in sales was due to higher volume in Maritime Systems & Sensors (MS2) and Missiles &
Fire Control (M&FC). Higher volume on surface systems programs accounted for most of MS2’s sales growth of $450 million. M&FC’s sales increased $265 million, primarily due to
higher volume on fire control and tactical missile programs.
Net sales for Electronic Systems increased 4% in 2003 as
compared to 2002. Sales increases in M&FC and MS2 more than
offset a decline at Platform, Training & Transportation Systems
(PT&TS). Increased volume in air defense and tactical missile
programs accounted for the majority of M&FC’s $250 million
sales growth over 2002. In MS2, the $155 million increase in sales
was primarily due to higher volume on radar and surface systems

2004

2003

2002

$ 6,357
489
16,112

$ 6,021
403
12,813

$ 5,287
279
10,701

Net sales for Space Systems increased by 6% in 2004 compared to 2003, as increases in Satellites of $320 million and
Strategic & Defensive Missile Systems (S&DMS) of $75 million more than offset a decrease in Launch Services. The
increase in Satellites was due to increased volume on government satellite programs and one additional commercial satellite
delivery in 2004. In S&DMS, the increase was primarily attributable to fleet ballistic missile programs. The lower volume in
Launch Services was mainly due to a decline in the Titan launch
vehicle program, which more than offset increases in both Atlas
launches (six in 2004 compared to five in 2003) and Proton
launches (four in 2004 compared to two in 2003).
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Integrated Systems & Solutions
Integrated Systems & Solutions’ operating results included the
following:

Net sales for Space Systems increased by 14% in 2003
compared to 2002. Sales increased by $570 million in Satellites
and $140 million in S&DMS compared to 2002. The growth in
Satellites was due to higher volume on government satellite
programs. The growth in S&DMS was attributable to increases
in both fleet ballistic missile and missile defense activities. In
Launch Services, increased Titan activities offset lower sales
resulting from a decline in Proton deliveries (two in 2003 and
four in 2002). There were five Atlas launches in both 2003
and 2002.
Operating profit for the segment increased 21% in 2004
as compared to 2003. Launch Services’ operating profit
increased $65 million. This increase was primarily due to U.S.
Government support of the Atlas program and the benefit
resulting from the first quarter termination of a launch vehicle contract by a commercial customer, offset by a decline in
activities on the Titan launch vehicle program. Satellites’
operating profit increased $20 million due to commercial
satellite deliveries, partially offset by lower profitability on a
government satellite program. In 2003, government satellites
operating profit reflected a $30 million charge related to a
NASA satellite program.
Operating profit for the segment increased 44% in 2003 as
compared to 2002. Satellites’ operating profit increased by $70
million over the 2002 period mainly due to improved performance on commercial satellite activities and volume increases on
government satellite programs, including the impact of a $30
million charge recorded in 2003 related to a NASA satellite
program. In Launch Services, operating profit increased by $35
million. The increase was primarily due to improved performance and risk retirement activities on the maturing Titan program, which were partially offset by the impact of a decline in
Proton launches in 2003. S&DMS’ operating profit increased
by $20 million due to the impact of the volume increases discussed above.
The increase in backlog during 2004 as compared to 2003
was mainly due to an increase in orders for government satellites, launch services and missile defense activities.

(In millions)

Net sales
Operating profit
Backlog at year-end

2004

2003

2002

$3,850
334
4,586

$3,420
291
4,350

$3,015
241
3,556

Net sales for IS&S increased by 13% in 2004 as compared
to 2003 and by 13% for 2003 over 2002. For both comparative
periods, the sales increases were primarily attributable to a
higher volume of intelligence, defense and information assurance activities.
Operating profit for the segment increased 15% in 2004 as
compared to 2003 and by 21% for 2003 over 2002. The increases
in operating profit for both comparative periods were primarily
attributable to higher volume and performance improvements
on the activities described above.
Information & Technology Services
Information & Technology Services’ operating results included
the following:
(In millions)

Net sales
Operating profit
Backlog at year-end

2004

2003

2002

$3,801
285
4,560

$3,174
226
4,817

$3,104
177
4,617

Net sales for I&TS increased by 20% in 2004 as compared
to 2003. The increase in sales was primarily attributable to
higher volume of $510 million in Information Technology.
Information Technology’s sales improved due to organic
growth, as well as the net impact of our purchase of Affiliated
Computer Services’ federal government IT business and the
concurrent sale of our commercial IT business in November
2003. The remaining increase in sales of $120 million was primarily attributable to higher volume in Defense Services, which
offset a decline in NASA sales.
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Net sales for I&TS increased by 2% in 2003 as compared
to 2002. The sales increase for the year was mainly the result
of volume increases of $110 million in Information
Technology, which more than offset lower sales volume totaling $40 million on Defense Services and NASA programs.
Information Technology’s results included the net impact of the
previously mentioned transactions with Affiliated Computer
Services in 2003.
Operating profit for the segment increased by 26% in 2004 as
compared to 2003. The operating profit increase was mainly due
to Information Technology volume and program performance.
Operating profit for the segment increased by 28% in 2003
as compared to 2002. The operating profit increase was mainly
due to the higher volume in Information Technology and
improved performance across all lines of business.
The I&TS segment includes a business unit that provides
services to the government of Argentina. At December 31, 2004,
we had net investments in and advances to this unit totaling about
$20 million. While we expect that these amounts will be recovered, there is always the potential that further devaluation of the
Argentine peso, deterioration in the Argentine economy or other
factors could adversely affect our ability to recover those amounts.

The difference between pension costs calculated and
funded in accordance with CAS and pension expense determined in accordance with FAS 87 is not included in segment
operating results and therefore is a reconciling item between
operating profit from the business segments and consolidated
operating profit (FAS/CAS pension adjustment). The CAS
funding amount is allocated among the business segments and
is included as an expense item in the segments’ cost of goods
sold. A majority of the cost is also passed along to our customers through contract pricing, and is consequently included
in the segments’ sales.
The following table shows the CAS funding that is included
as expense in the segments’ operating results, the related
FAS (expense) income, and the resulting FAS/CAS pension
adjustment:
(In millions)

FAS/CAS pension adjustment
Items not considered in segment
operating performance
Other, net

2004

2003

$(595)

$(300)

2002

(215)
(77)

(153)
4

(1,112)
7

$(887)

$(449)

$ (862)

$

2003

2002

FAS 87 (expense) income
Less: CAS expense and funding

$(884)
(289)

$(484)
(184)

$156
(87)

FAS/CAS pension adjustment —
(expense) income

$(595)

$(300)

$243

As disclosed in Note 12 to the financial statements, FAS 87
expense increased primarily due to higher recognized net actuarial losses and higher service cost in 2004, and due to a lower
expected return on plan assets in addition to these other two
factors in 2003.

Net Unallocated Corporate (Expense) Income
The following table shows the components of net unallocated
Corporate (expense) income. For a discussion of the FAS/CAS
pension adjustment and other types of items included in net
unallocated Corporate (expense) income, see Note 15 to the
financial statements. For information about items not considered in segment operating performance, see the table under the
previous discussion of results of operations. The decrease in
“Other, net” was primarily due to lower earnings on our equity
investments in 2004.
(In millions)

2004

243
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LIQUIDITY AND CASH FLOWS
Our management has set forth strategic cash deployment objectives to help ensure that we keep a focus toward growing our
core business and increasing shareholder value, and that we are
in a position to take advantage of opportunities to do so when
they arise. Those objectives include internal investment in our
business (e.g., capital expenditures, independent research and
development), share repurchases, increases in dividends, debt
reductions, and selected acquisitions of businesses consistent
with our strategy. The following discussion highlights our cash
activities over the past three years as well as our future plans.

business relative to independent research and development and
bid and proposal activities aggregating $962 million in 2004,
$903 million in 2003 and $830 million in 2002. During 2004
and 2003, we made discretionary prepayments of $485 million
and $450 million, respectively, to pre-fund our pension plan
trusts that reduced cash from operations. Such payments were
made to reduce our cash funding requirements in the subsequent year. Our 2002 cash from operations included $117 million from the settlement of a research and development tax
credit claim. We expect our cash from operations to continue to
be strong over the next two years.
Investing Activities
Capital expenditures — Capital expenditures for property, plant
and equipment amounted to $769 million in 2004, $687 million
in 2003 and $662 million in 2002. We expect our capital expenditures to increase over the next two years consistent with the
expected growth in our business.

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
(In millions)
$3,000

2,400

1,800

Acquisitions, divestitures and other activities — In addition to
our internal investment in capital expenditures and independent
research and development activities, we also selectively identify
businesses for potential acquisition. During 2004, we paid $91
million for businesses to strengthen our capabilities in providing services to defense and other government customers.
During 2003, we paid approximately $645 million for two businesses to strengthen our capabilities in providing IT services to
defense, intelligence and other government customers. We also
paid $130 million in 2003 related to our guarantee of Space
Imaging, LLC’s borrowings under its credit facility.
During the past three years, we have divested non-core
businesses, primarily those serving commercial markets. We
received cash of approximately $90 million in 2004 from the
sale of our COMSAT General business, $110 million in 2003
from the sale of our commercial IT business and $134 million
in 2002 from the sale of certain discontinued telecommunication businesses.

1,200

600

0

2004

2003

2002

Operating Activities
Cash from operations continues to be the primary source of
funds for financing our activities. Cash from operations
amounted to $2.9 billion in 2004, $1.8 billion in 2003 and $2.3
billion in 2002. Our earnings, adjusted for non-cash items such
as depreciation and amortization and impairment charges, were
the driving force behind these cash flows. Our working capital
has continued to be a focus of our cash management processes,
particularly with our sales having increased by $11.5 billion
over the last three years. We attribute this performance to our
continued discipline in managing our cash conversion cycle,
including the negotiation of performance-based progress
payment or advance payment terms in our contracts, inventory
management, and billing and collection activities. We continue
to leverage the billing and collection processes of our Shared
Services centers, including the emphasis on electronic
interfaces with our U.S. Government customers. Cash from
operations is net of internal investments we have made in our
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Share repurchases and dividends — We also used cash in each
of the last three years for the repurchase of shares of our common stock: $772 million for 14.7 million common shares in
2004, of which $673 million for 12.9 million common shares
was settled during the year, $482 million in 2003 for 10.7 million common shares and $50 million in 2002 for 1.0 million
common shares. These transactions were pursuant to our share
repurchase program initiated in 2002. A total of 16.6 million common shares may be repurchased in the future under the program.
The payment of dividends on our common shares is one of
the key components of our balanced cash deployment strategy.
Shareholders were paid cash dividends of $405 million in 2004,
$261 million in 2003 and $199 million in 2002. We have
increased our quarterly dividend rate in each of the last two
years. We paid a quarterly dividend of $0.22 per share during
each of the first three quarters of 2004 and $0.25 per share for
the last quarter of 2004. In 2003, we paid quarterly dividends of
$0.12 per share during each of the first three quarters of the
year and $0.22 for the last quarter of 2003.
We plan to continue to deploy a majority of the cash we
generate from operations (after capital expenditures) to repurchase shares and pay dividends.

During 2004, New Skies Satellites, N.V. was sold to a private equity firm. Our portion of the proceeds was $148 million,
$140 million of which was received in 2004. In December
2003, Inmarsat Ventures, Ltd., a venture in which we held a
14% interest, was acquired by a consortium of private equity
firms in a leveraged buyout transaction. In exchange for our
interest, we received cash of $114 million and a 14% ownership
interest in the new Inmarsat holding company, Inmarsat Group
Holdings, Ltd., valued at $96 million. During 2004, Inmarsat
Group Holdings refinanced its debt, and we received cash of
$50 million, reducing our investment to $46 million while
retaining our 14% ownership interest.
In January 2005, the sale of Intelsat, Ltd. to a private equity
firm was completed for $18.75 per share. We received proceeds of
about $750 million for our 25% ownership of Intelsat.
Financing Activities
Issuance and repayment of long-term debt — Cash provided
from operations has been our principal source of funds to
reduce our long-term debt. In 2004, we used $1.1 billion of cash
for the early retirement and scheduled repayment of long-term
debt. We used $163 million of cash for costs associated with the
early retirement of $951 million of debt through our tender
offers. In 2003, we issued $1.0 billion of floating rate convertible senior debentures that bear interest at three-month LIBOR
less 25 basis points, reset quarterly. We used the proceeds of
that issuance, along with cash from operations, to repay $2.2
billion of debt in advance of its maturity and retire other high
cost debt. We used $175 million of cash for debt issuance and
repayment costs to complete those transactions.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND RESOURCES
At December 31, 2004, our total long-term debt amounted to
$5.1 billion. Our long-term debt is mainly in the form of publicly
issued notes and debentures. Our long-term debt bears interest at
fixed rates, except for $1.0 billion of convertible debentures
issued in 2003 with a floating interest rate based on LIBOR (discussed in more detail below). Through our repayment activities,
our long-term debt has declined from a balance of $9.9 billion at
December 31, 2000. We improved our debt-to-total capital ratio
from 58% at December 31, 2000 to 42% at December 31, 2004.

indicator of performance. See Consolidated Financial Data —
Five Year Summary on page 69 for additional information concerning how we calculate ROIC.
In 2004, we repaid a total of $1.1 billion of long-term debt,
including scheduled and early debt repayments. Through the
completion of tender offers, we repaid debt totaling $951 million: $285 million (73%) of our outstanding 7.70% Notes due
June 15, 2008 and $666 million (67%) of our outstanding
8.20% Notes due December 1, 2009. In connection with these
early repayments, we recorded charges in 2004, net of state
income tax benefits, totaling $154 million. The charges reduced
net earnings by $100 million ($0.22 per share).
At December 31, 2004, we had in place a $1.5 billion revolving credit facility, which expires in July 2009, and a $500 million
revolving credit facility, which expires in July 2005. There were
no borrowings outstanding under either facility at December 31,
2004. Borrowings under the credit facility would be unsecured
and bear interest at rates based, at our option, on the Eurodollar
rate or a defined bank Base Rate. Each bank’s obligation to make
loans under the credit facility is subject to, among other things,
our compliance with various representations, warranties and
covenants, including covenants limiting our ability and the ability of certain of our subsidiaries to encumber our assets, and a
covenant not to exceed a maximum leverage ratio.
We have agreements in place with banking institutions to
provide for the issuance of commercial paper. There were no
commercial paper borrowings outstanding at December 31,
2004. If we were to issue commercial paper, the borrowings
would be supported by the $1.5 billion credit facility.
We have an effective shelf registration statement on file
with the Securities and Exchange Commission to provide for the
issuance of up to $1 billion in debt securities. If we were to issue
debt under this shelf registration, we would expect to use the net
proceeds for general corporate purposes. These purposes may
include repayment of debt, working capital needs, capital expenditures, acquisitions and any other general corporate purpose.
We actively seek to finance our business in a manner that
preserves financial flexibility while minimizing borrowing
costs to the extent practicable. Our management continually
reviews changes in financial, market and economic conditions
to manage the types, amounts and maturities of our indebtedness. We may at times refinance existing indebtedness, vary our
mix of variable-rate and fixed-rate debt, or seek alternative
financing sources for our cash and operational needs.

Debt-To-Total Capital Ratio
(In percent)
60%

50%

40%
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Our stockholders’ equity amounted to $7.0 billion at
December 31, 2004, an increase of $265 million from
December 31, 2003. The increase resulted from net earnings
and stock plan activities partially offset by our payment of dividends, an increase in our minimum pension liability and share
repurchase activity.
Return on invested capital (ROIC) improved by 120 basis
points during 2004 to 11.9%. We define ROIC as net income
plus after-tax interest expense divided by average invested capital (stockholders’ equity plus debt). We believe that reporting
ROIC provides investors with greater visibility into how effectively Lockheed Martin uses the capital invested in its operations. We use ROIC to evaluate multi-year investment decisions
and as a long-term performance measure. We also plan to use
ROIC as a factor in evaluating management performance for
incentive compensation purposes in 2005. ROIC is not a measure of financial performance under generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S., and may not be defined and calculated
by other companies in the same manner. ROIC should not be
considered in isolation or as an alternative to net earnings as an
35

Lockheed Martin Corporation

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
December 31, 2004

them “for convenience” pursuant to FAR. For example, if we had
commitments to purchase goods and services that were entered
into as a result of a specific contract we received from our U.S.
Government customer and the customer terminated the contract
for convenience, any amounts we would be required to pay to
settle the related commitments, as well as amounts previously
incurred, would generally be reimbursed by the customer. This
would also be true in cases where we perform sub-contract work
for a prime contractor under a U.S. Government contract. The
termination for convenience language may also be included in
contracts with foreign, state and local governments. If so,
amounts related to purchase obligations entered into in support
of those contracts were excluded from the preceding table. To
the extent contracts with customers do not include termination
for convenience provisions, including contracts with commercial customers, related purchase obligation amounts are included
in the table.
Amounts related to “Other long-term liabilities” in the preceding table represent the contractual obligations for certain
long-term liabilities recorded as of December 31, 2004. Such
amounts mainly include expected payments under deferred compensation plans, non-qualified pension plans and environmental
liabilities. Obligations related to environmental liabilities represent our estimate of remediation payment obligations under government consent decrees and agreements, excluding amounts
reimbursed by the U.S. Government in its capacity as a potentially responsible party under an agreement entered into in 2000.
We have entered into standby letter of credit agreements
and other arrangements with financial institutions and customers mainly relating to advances received from customers
and/or the guarantee of future performance on some of our contracts. At December 31, 2004, we had outstanding letters of
credit, surety bonds and guarantees, as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, cash
flow from operations and other available financing resources,
are expected to be sufficient to meet anticipated operating, capital expenditure and debt service requirements, as well as acquisition and other discretionary investment needs, projected over
the next three years.
CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS AND OFF-BALANCE
SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
At December 31, 2004, we had contractual commitments to
repay debt, make payments under operating leases, settle obligations related to agreements to purchase goods and services,
and settle other long-term liabilities. Capital lease obligations
were negligible. Payments due under these long-term obligations and commitments are as follows:
Payments Due by Period
(In millions)

Long-term debt(a)
Operating lease
commitments
Purchase
obligations
Other long-term
liabilities
Total contractual
cash obligations

1–3
years

3–5
years

After 5
years

15

$ 269

$ 432

$4,403

1,066

251

333

201

281

1,541

866

564

111

—

1,183

197

271

128

587

$8,909

$1,329

$1,437

$ 872

$5,271

Total

$5,119

Less than
1 year

$

(a) Long-term debt includes scheduled principal payments only.

Generally, our long-term debt obligations are subject to,
along with other things, compliance with certain covenants,
including covenants limiting our ability and the ability of certain of our subsidiaries to encumber our assets.
Purchase obligations include agreements and requirements
contracts that give the supplier recourse to us for cancellation or
nonperformance under the contract or contain terms that would
subject us to liquidated damages. Such agreements and contracts
may, for example, be related to direct materials, obligations to
sub-contractors, outsourcing arrangements, and non-cancelable
commitments for property, plant and equipment. Generally,
amounts for purchase obligations in the preceding table exclude
contractual commitments entered into as a result of contracts we
have with our U.S. Government customers. These commitments
are excluded because the U.S. Government would be required to
pay us for any costs we incur if they terminate our contracts with

Commitment Expiration per Period
(In millions)

Standby letters
of credit(a)
Surety bonds(a)
Guarantees

Total
Less than
After
Commitment 1 year
1–3 years 3–5 years 5 years

$2,713
328
4

$2,385
189
4

$ 310
139
—

$ 7
—
—

$ 11
—
—

Total commitments $3,045

$2,578

$ 449

$ 7

$ 11

(a) Approximately $2,245 million and $115 million of standby letters of credit
in the “less than 1 year” and “1–3 year” periods, respectively, and approximately $64 million of surety bonds in the “less than 1 year” period, are
expected to renew for additional periods until completion of the contractual
obligation.
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) issued FAS 123(R), Share-Based Payments, that, upon
implementation, will impact our net earnings and earnings per
share, and change the classification of certain elements of the
statement of cash flows. FAS 123(R) requires stock options and
other share-based payments made to employees to be accounted
for as compensation expense and recorded at fair value, and to
reflect the related tax benefit received upon exercise of the
options in the statement of cash flows as a financing activity
inflow rather than an adjustment of operating activity as currently presented. Consistent with the provisions of the new standard, we intend to adopt FAS 123(R) in the third quarter of
2005, and to implement it on a prospective basis. Information
about the fair value of stock options under the Black-Scholes
model and its pro forma impact on our net earnings and earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2004 can be
found in Note 1 to the financial statements, and we expect the
impact of implementing the new standard using this model will
be a reduction in earnings per share of approximately $0.10 to
$0.20 on a full year basis. However, a number of technical
implementation issues are yet to be resolved, including the
selection and use of an appropriate valuation model, and the
ultimate impact of adopting FAS 123(R) is not yet known.
In May 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP)
106-2, Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization
Act of 2003. This FSP provides specific authoritative guidance
on the accounting for the federal subsidy to eligible sponsors of
retiree health care benefits provided under this law. Using this
guidance, the Corporation calculated a reduction in its accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation at December 31, 2004
of $295 million from the effects of the new law and, after application of government contracting regulations, doesn’t anticipate
a material impact on net earnings from the reduction in net periodic post-retirement benefits cost in 2005.

Included in the table above is approximately $420 million
representing letter of credit and surety bond amounts for which
related obligations or liabilities are also recorded in the balance
sheet, either as reductions of inventories, as customer advances
and amounts in excess of costs incurred, or as other liabilities.
Approximately $2 billion of the standby letters of credit in the
table above were to secure advance payments received under an
F-16 contract from an international customer. These letters of
credit are available for draw down in the event of our nonperformance, and the amount available will be reduced as certain events
occur throughout the period of performance in accordance with
the contract terms. Similar to the letters of credit for the
F-16 contract, other letters of credit and surety bonds are available for draw down in the event of our nonperformance.
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE
OF MARKET RISK
Our main exposure to market risk relates to interest rates and, to
a lesser extent, foreign currency exchange rates. Our financial
instruments that are subject to interest rate risk principally
include fixed-rate and floating rate long-term debt. The estimated fair values of the Corporation’s long-term debt instruments at December 31, 2004, aggregated approximately $6.3
billion, compared with a carrying amount of approximately $5.1
billion. The majority of our long-term debt obligations are not
callable until maturity. We sometimes use interest rate swaps to
manage our exposure to fixed and variable interest rates; however, at year-end 2004, we had no such agreements in place.
We use forward foreign exchange contracts to manage our
exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, and
do so in ways that qualify for hedge accounting treatment. These
exchange contracts hedge the fluctuations in cash flows associated
with firm commitments or specific anticipated transactions contracted in foreign currencies, or hedge the exposure to rate
changes affecting foreign currency denominated assets or liabilities. Related gains and losses on these contracts, to the extent they
are effective hedges, are recognized in income at the same time as
the hedged transaction is recognized or when the hedged asset or
liability is adjusted. To the extent the hedges are ineffective, gains
and losses on the contracts are recognized currently. At December
31, 2004, the fair value of forward exchange contracts outstanding, as well as the amounts of gains and losses recorded during the
year then ended, were not material. We do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures, including
internal control over financial reporting, that are designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed in our periodic
filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) is
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules
and forms, and to provide reasonable assurance that assets are
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
December 31, 2004

During 2004, we devoted significant effort to comply with
the rules on internal control over financial reporting issued pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. This effort expanded upon our
long-standing practice of acknowledging management’s
responsibility for the establishment and effective operation of
internal control through performing self-assessment and monitoring procedures. Based on this work and other evaluation procedures, our management, including the CEO and CFO,
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures, including our internal control over financial reporting, were effective
as of December 31, 2004. Management’s report on financial
statements and internal control over financial reporting appears
on page 39. In addition, both our assessment and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting were audited by
our independent auditors. Their unqualified report appears on
page 40.
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the most recently completed fiscal quarter
that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

safeguarded and transactions are properly executed and
recorded. Our disclosure controls and procedures are also
designed to ensure that information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO), as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In
designing and evaluating such controls and procedures, we recognize that any controls and procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance
of achieving the desired control objectives, and management
necessarily is required to use its judgment in evaluating the cost
to benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.
Also, we have investments in certain unconsolidated entities. As
we do not control or manage these entities, our controls and
procedures with respect to those entities are necessarily substantially more limited than those we maintain with respect to
our consolidated subsidiaries.
We routinely review our system of internal control over
financial reporting and make changes to our processes and systems to improve controls and increase efficiency, while ensuring that we maintain an effective internal control environment.
Changes may include such activities as implementing new,
more efficient systems, consolidating the activities of two or
more business units, and migrating certain processes to our
Shared Services centers. In addition, when we acquire new
businesses, we review the controls and procedures of the
acquired business as part of our integration activities.
We performed an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, including internal control over
financial reporting, as of December 31, 2004. The evaluation
was performed with the participation of senior management of
each business segment and key Corporate functions, and under
the supervision of the CEO and CFO.
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MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of Lockheed Martin is responsible for the consolidated financial statements and all related financial information contained in this Annual Report. The consolidated financial statements, which include amounts based on estimates and
judgments, have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Management
believes the consolidated financial statements fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the Corporation. The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report included herein.
The management of Lockheed Martin is also responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control over financial reporting of the Corporation (as defined by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934). This system is designed to
provide reasonable assurance, based on an appropriate cost-benefit relationship, that assets are safeguarded and transactions are
properly executed and recorded. An environment that provides for an appropriate level of control consciousness is maintained
through a comprehensive program of independent management testing to identify and correct deficiencies, examinations by internal auditors and audits by the Defense Contract Audit Agency for compliance with federal government rules and regulations applicable to contracts with the U.S. Government.
Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Corporation’s system of internal control over financial
reporting based on the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that the Corporation’s system of internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004. Management’s assessment has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, as
stated in their report included herein.
Essential to the Corporation’s internal control system is management’s dedication to the highest standards of integrity, ethics
and social responsibility. To support these standards, management has issued the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct (the Code).
The Code provides for a help line that employees can use to confidentially or anonymously communicate to the Corporation’s ethics
office complaints or concerns about accounting, internal control or auditing matters. These matters are forwarded directly to the
Audit and Ethics Committee of the Corporation’s Board of Directors.
The Audit and Ethics Committee, which is composed of six independent directors, has oversight responsibility for the
Corporation’s financial reporting process and the audits of the consolidated financial statements and internal control over financial
reporting. Both the independent auditors and the internal auditors have unrestricted access to meet with members of the Audit and
Ethics Committee, with or without management representatives present. The Audit and Ethics Committee recommended, and the
Board of Directors approved, that the audited consolidated financial statements be included in the Corporation’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Robert J. Stevens
President and Chief Executive Officer

Christopher E. Kubasik
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM,
REGARDING INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Lockheed Martin Corporation
We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Financial Statements and
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that Lockheed Martin Corporation maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Lockheed Martin Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control
over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets
that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, management’s assessment that Lockheed Martin Corporation maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion,
Lockheed Martin Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2004, based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the consolidated balance sheet of Lockheed Martin Corporation as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated
statements of earnings, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004 and
our report dated February 23, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Baltimore, Maryland
February 23, 2005
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM,
ON THE AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Lockheed Martin Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Lockheed Martin Corporation as of December 31, 2004 and
2003, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Lockheed Martin Corporation at December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the consolidated results of its operations
and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with United States generally
accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the effectiveness of Lockheed Martin Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission and our report dated February 23, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Baltimore, Maryland
February 23, 2005
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS

Year ended December 31,
2004

2003

2002

$35,526
33,558

$31,824
29,848

$26,578
24,629

Other income and expenses, net

1,968
121

1,976
43

1,949
(791)

Operating profit
Interest expense

2,089
425

2,019
487

1,158
581

Earnings from continuing operations before taxes
Income tax expense

1,664
398

1,532
479

577
44

Earnings from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations

1,266
—

1,053
—

533
(33)

$ 1,266

$ 1,053

$

500

$

2.86
—

$

2.36
—

$

1.20
(0.07)

$

2.86

$

2.36

$

1.13

$

2.83
—

$

2.34
—

$

1.18
(0.07)

$

2.83

$

2.34

$

1.11

(In millions, except per share data)
NET SALES

Cost of sales

NET EARNINGS
EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE:

Basic:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Diluted:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

December 31,
2004
2003

(In millions)
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Receivables
Inventories
Deferred income taxes
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Investments in equity securities
Goodwill
Purchased intangibles, net
Prepaid pension asset
Other assets

$ 1,060
396
4,094
1,864
982
557

$ 1,010
240
4,039
2,348
921
843

8,953

9,401

3,599
812
7,892
672
1,030
2,596

3,489
1,060
7,879
807
1,213
2,326

$25,554

$26,175

$ 1,726
4,028
1,346
15
1,451

$ 1,434
4,256
1,418
136
1,649

8,566

8,893

5,104
1,660
1,236
1,967

6,072
1,100
1,440
1,914

438
2,223
5,915
(23)
—
(1,532)

446
2,477
5,054
—
(17)
(1,204)

7,021

6,756

$25,554

$26,175

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Customer advances and amounts in excess of costs incurred
Salaries, benefits and payroll taxes
Current maturities of long-term debt
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Accrued pension liabilities
Other post-retirement benefit liabilities
Other liabilities
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $1 par value per share
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Unearned compensation
Unearned ESOP shares
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ equity

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31,
(In millions)

2004

2003

2002

$ 1,266

$ 1,053

$ 533

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Earnings from continuing operations
Adjustments to reconcile earnings from continuing operations to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of purchased intangibles
Deferred federal income taxes
Write-down of investments and other charges
Loss from discontinued operations
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Inventories
Accounts payable
Customer advances and amounts in excess of costs incurred
Income taxes
Other
Net cash provided by operating activities

511
145
(58)
151
—

480
129
467
42
—

433
125
(463)
1,127
(33)

(87)
519
288
(228)
(63)
480

(258)
(94)
330
(285)
(16)
(39)

394
585
(317)
(460)
44
320

2,924

1,809

2,288

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Expenditures for property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from divestiture of businesses / investments in affiliated companies
Purchase of short-term investments, net
Acquisition of businesses / investments in affiliated companies
Other
Net cash used for investing activities

(769)
279
(156)
(91)
29

(687)
234
(240)
(821)
53

(662)
134
—
(104)
93

(708)

(1,461)

(539)

(1,089)
—
(163)
164
(673)
(405)

(2,202)
1,000
(175)
44
(482)
(261)

(110)
—
—
436
(50)
(199)

(2,166)

(2,076)

77

50
1,010

(1,728)
2,738

1,826
912

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayments of long-term debt
Issuances of long-term debt
Long-term debt repayment and issuance costs
Issuances of common stock
Repurchases of common stock
Common stock dividends
Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$ 1,060

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In millions, except per share data)

Balance at December 31, 2001
Net earnings
Common stock dividends declared
($0.44 per share)
Stock-based awards and ESOP activity
Repurchases of common stock
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Minimum pension liability
Net unrealized loss from
available-for-sale investments
Reclassification adjustments related
to available-for-sale investments
Other
Balance at December 31, 2002
Net earnings
Common stock dividends
declared ($0.58 per share)
Repurchases of common stock
Stock-based awards and ESOP activity
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Minimum pension liability
Net unrealized gain from
available-for-sale investments
Other
Balance at December 31, 2003
Net earnings
Common stock dividends declared
($0.91 per share)
Repurchases of common stock
Stock-based awards and ESOP activity
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Minimum pension liability
Reclassification adjustments related to
available-for-sale investments
Other
Balance at December 31, 2004

Additional
Common
Paid-In
Stock
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Unearned
Compensation

Unearned
ESOP
Shares

$2,142

$3,961

$—

—

—

500

—

—

—

500

—
15
(1)

—
703
(49)

(199)
—
—

—
—
—

—
34
—

—
—
—

(199)
752
(50)

—

—

—

—

—

(1,537)

(1,537)

(1,537)

—

—

—

—

—

(100)

(100)

(100)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

53
3

53
3

53
3

455

2,796

4,262

—

(50)

—

—

1,053

—

—

—

—
(11)
2

—
(471)
152

(261)
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
33

—
—
—

(261)
(482)
187

—
—
—

—

—

—

—

—

331

331

331

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

46
17

46
17

46
17

446

2,477

5,054

—

(17)

6,756

$ 1,447

—

—

1,266

—

—

—

1,266

$ 1,266

—
(15)
7

—
(757)
503

(405)
—
—

—
—
(23)

—
—
17

—
—
—

(405)
(772)
504

—
—
—

—

—

—

—

—

(285)

(285)

(285)

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

(56)
13

(56)
13

(56)
13

$438

$2,223

$5,915

$—

$(1,532)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

(17)

Comprehensive
(Loss)
Income

$441

$(23)

$(84)

Accumulated
Other
Total
Comprehensive Stockholders’
(Loss) Income
Equity

(1,598)

(1,204)

$6,443
$

500
—
—
—

5,865

$(1,081)

1,053

$ 1,053

$7,021

$

938
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2004

NOTE 1 — SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Organization — Lockheed Martin Corporation (Lockheed
Martin or the Corporation) principally researches, designs, develops, manufactures, integrates, operates and sustains advanced
technology systems, products and services. As a leading systems
integrator, its products and services range from aircraft, spacecraft and launch vehicles to missiles, electronics and information systems. The Corporation mainly serves customers in
domestic and international defense, civil markets and homeland security, with its principal customers being agencies of the
U.S. Government.

Cash and cash equivalents — Cash equivalents are generally
composed of highly liquid instruments with original maturities
of 90 days or less. Due to the short maturity of these instruments, carrying value on the Corporation’s consolidated balance sheet approximates fair value.
Short-term investments — The Corporation’s short-term investments consist of marketable securities that are categorized as
available-for-sale securities as defined by Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (FAS) 115, Accounting for
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. Realized
gains and losses are recorded in the statement of earnings under
the caption other income and expenses. For purposes of computing realized gains and losses, cost is determined on a specific identification basis. The fair values of marketable
securities are estimated based on quoted market prices for the
respective securities.
The Corporation records short-term investments at fair
value. At year-end, the investment portfolio was composed of
the following:

Basis of consolidation and classifications — The consolidated
financial statements include the accounts of wholly-owned subsidiaries and majority-owned entities which the Corporation
controls. Intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation. Receivables and inventories are
primarily attributable to long-term contracts or programs in
progress for which the related operating cycles are longer than
one year. In accordance with industry practice, these items are
included in current assets.
Certain amounts for prior years have been reclassified to
conform with the 2004 presentation.

2004

(In millions)

Amortized
Cost

Use of estimates — The preparation of consolidated financial
statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (GAAP) requires management to
make estimates and assumptions, including estimates of anticipated contract costs and revenues utilized in the earnings recognition process, that affect the reported amounts in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Due to the size and nature
of many of the Corporation’s programs, the estimation of total
revenues and cost at completion is subject to a wide range of
variables, including assumptions for schedule and technical
issues. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

2003
Fair
Value

Amortized
Cost

Fair
Value

U.S. treasury and
government agency
securities
$252
Corporate debt securities 117
Mortgage-backed and
other securities
28

$251
117

$125
94

$126
94

28

20

20

$397

$396

$239

$240

Approximately 77% of the securities had contractual maturities of one year or less. An additional 22% of the securities
had contractual maturities of one to five years. Marketable
securities sales proceeds totaled $384 million in 2004 and $116
million in 2003. Gross gains and losses related to sales of marketable securities for both years, as well as net unrealized gains
and losses at each year-end, were not material.
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earnings or losses of the affiliated companies is included in
other income and expenses. The Corporation recognizes currently gains or losses arising from issuances of stock by whollyowned or majority-owned subsidiaries, or by equity method
investees. These gains or losses are also included in other
income and expenses. Investments in equity securities also
include the Corporation’s ownership interests in companies in
which its investment represents less than 20% ownership. If
classified as available-for-sale under FAS 115, these investments are accounted for at fair value, with unrealized gains and
losses reflected as a net after-tax amount under the caption of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the statement of stockholders’ equity. If declines in the value of investments accounted for under either the equity method or FAS 115
are determined to be other than temporary, a loss is recorded in
earnings in the current period. The Corporation makes such
determinations by considering, among other factors, the length
of time the fair value of the investment has been less than the
carrying value, future business prospects for the investee, information regarding market and industry trends for the investee’s
business, and investment analyst reports, if available.
Investments not accounted for under one of these methods are
generally accounted for under the cost method of accounting.

Receivables — Receivables consist of amounts billed and currently due from customers, and unbilled costs and accrued profits primarily related to revenues on long-term contracts that
have been recognized for accounting purposes but not yet billed
to customers. As such revenues are recognized, appropriate
amounts of customer advances, performance-based payments
and progress payments are reflected as an offset to the related
accounts receivable balance.
Inventories — Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or estimated net realizable value. Costs on long-term contracts and
programs in progress represent recoverable costs incurred for
production or contract-specific facilities and equipment, allocable operating overhead, advances to suppliers and, where appropriate, research and development and general and administrative
expenses. Pursuant to contract provisions, agencies of the U.S.
Government and certain other customers have title to, or a security interest in, inventories related to such contracts as a result
of advances, performance-based payments and progress payments. Such advances and payments are reflected as an offset
against the related inventory balances. General and administrative expenses related to commercial products and services provided essentially under commercial terms and conditions are
expensed as incurred. Costs of other product and supply inventories are principally determined by the first-in first-out or average cost methods.

Goodwill — Goodwill is evaluated for potential impairment
annually by comparing the fair value of a reporting unit, based
on estimated future cash flows, to its carrying value including
goodwill recorded by the reporting unit. If the carrying value
exceeds the fair value, impairment is measured by comparing
the derived fair value of goodwill to its carrying value, and any
impairment determined is recorded in the current period.

Property, plant and equipment — Property, plant and equipment are carried principally at cost. Depreciation is provided on
plant and equipment generally using accelerated methods during the first half of the estimated useful lives of the assets;
thereafter, straight-line depreciation is used. Estimated useful
lives generally range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and five
to 15 years for machinery and equipment.

Purchased intangibles, net — Intangible assets acquired as part
of business combinations are amortized over their estimated
useful lives unless their useful lives are determined to be indefinite. For material business combinations, amounts recorded
related to purchased intangibles are determined from independent valuations. The Corporation’s purchased intangibles primarily relate to contracts and programs and customer
relationships which are amortized over periods of 15 years or
less. Purchased intangibles are displayed in the consolidated

Investments in equity securities — Investments in equity securities include the Corporation’s ownership interests in affiliated
companies accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Under this method of accounting, which generally applies
to investments that represent a 20% to 50% ownership of the
equity securities of the investees, the Corporation’s share of the
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tract value, are recorded upon achievement of performance
milestones or using the cost-to-cost method of accounting
where sales and profits are recorded based on the ratio of costs
incurred to estimated total costs at completion.
Sales under cost-reimbursement-type contracts are recorded
as costs are incurred. Applicable estimated profits are included
in earnings in the proportion that incurred costs bear to total
estimated costs. Sales of products and services provided essentially under commercial terms and conditions are recorded upon
delivery and passage of title.
Incentives or penalties related to performance on contracts
are considered in estimating sales and profit rates, and are
recorded when there is sufficient information to assess anticipated contract performance. Estimates of award fees are also
considered in estimating sales and profit rates based on actual
awards and anticipated performance. Incentive provisions
which increase or decrease earnings based solely on a single
significant event are generally not recognized until the event
occurs. Amounts representing contract change orders, claims or
other items are included in sales only when they can be reliably
estimated and realization is probable.
When adjustments in contract value or estimated costs are
determined, any changes from prior estimates are generally
reflected in earnings in the current period. Anticipated losses
on contracts are charged to earnings when determined to be
probable.

balance sheet net of accumulated amortization of $1,638 million and $1,491 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. Amortization expense related to these intangible
assets was $145 million, $129 million, and $125 million for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively,
and is estimated to be approximately $146 million per year in
2005 and 2006, $119 million in 2007, $80 million in 2008, and
$62 million in 2009.
Customer advances and amounts in excess of costs incurred —
The Corporation receives advances, performance-based payments and progress payments from customers which may exceed
costs incurred on certain contracts, including contracts with
agencies of the U.S. Government. Such advances, other than
those reflected as a reduction of accounts receivable or inventories as discussed above, are classified as current liabilities.
Environmental matters — The Corporation records a liability
for environmental matters when it is probable that a liability has
been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. A
substantial portion of these costs are expected to be reflected in
sales and cost of sales pursuant to U.S. Government agreement
or regulation. At the time a liability is recorded for future environmental costs, an asset is recorded for estimated future recovery considered probable through the pricing of products and
services to agencies of the U.S. Government. The portion of
those costs expected to be allocated to commercial business or
that is determined to be unallowable for pricing under U.S.
Government contracts is reflected in cost of sales at the time the
liability is established.

Research and development and similar costs — Corporationsponsored research and development costs primarily include
independent research and development and bid and proposal
efforts related to government products and services. Except for
certain arrangements described below, these costs are generally
included as part of the general and administrative costs that are
allocated among all contracts and programs in progress under
U.S. Government contractual arrangements. Corporation-sponsored product development costs not otherwise allocable are
charged to expense when incurred. Under certain arrangements
in which a customer shares in product development costs, the
Corporation’s portion of unreimbursed costs is generally
expensed as incurred. The Corporation made internal invest-

Sales and earnings — Sales and anticipated profits under longterm fixed-price production contracts are recorded on a percentage of completion basis, generally using units-of-delivery
as the basis to measure progress toward completing the contract
and recognizing revenue. Estimated contract profits are taken
into earnings in proportion to recorded sales. Sales under certain long-term fixed-price contracts which, among other factors, provide for the delivery of minimal quantities or require a
substantial level of development effort in relation to total con-
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or reflected in other comprehensive income until the hedged
transaction matures and the entire transaction is recognized in
earnings. The change in fair value of the ineffective portion of
a hedge is immediately recognized in earnings.
Interest rate swap agreements are designated as effective
hedges of the fair value of certain existing fixed rate debt
instruments. Forward currency exchange contracts qualify as
hedges of the fluctuations in cash flows associated with firm
commitments or specific anticipated transactions contracted in
foreign currencies, or as hedges of the exposure to rate changes
affecting foreign currency denominated assets or liabilities. At
December 31, 2004, there were no interest rate swap agreements outstanding, and the fair value of forward currency
exchange contracts outstanding, as well as the related amounts
of gains and losses recorded during the year, were not material.
The Corporation does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

ments relative to independent research and development and
bid and proposal activities of $962 million in 2004, $903 million in 2003 and $830 million in 2002. Costs incurred under
customer-sponsored research and development programs pursuant to contracts are accounted for as sales and cost of sales
under the contract.
Restructuring activities — Under existing U.S. Government
regulations, certain costs incurred for consolidation or restructuring activities that can be demonstrated to result in savings in
excess of the cost to implement those actions can be deferred
and amortized for government contracting purposes and
included as allowable costs in future pricing of the Corporation’s
products and services. Included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2004 and 2003 is $95 million and $155 million, respectively, of deferred costs related to
various consolidation actions.
Impairment of certain long-lived assets — Generally, the carrying values of long-lived assets other than goodwill are reviewed
for impairment if events or changes in the facts and circumstances indicate that their carrying values may not be recoverable. Any impairment determined is recorded in the current
period and is measured by comparing the fair value based on estimated future cash flows of the related asset to its carrying value.

Stock-based compensation — The Corporation measures compensation cost for stock-based compensation plans using the
intrinsic value method of accounting as prescribed in
Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees, and related interpretations, for the years
presented. The Corporation has adopted those provisions of
FAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, which
require disclosure of the pro forma effects on net earnings and
earnings per share as if compensation cost had been recognized
based upon the fair value-based method at the date of grant for
options awarded.

Derivative financial instruments — The Corporation sometimes uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange rates.
Derivatives are recorded as either other current assets or liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet, and periodically
adjusted to fair value. The classification of gains and losses
resulting from changes in the fair values of derivatives is
dependent on the intended use of the derivative and its resulting
designation. Adjustments to reflect changes in fair values of
derivatives that are not considered highly effective hedges are
reflected in earnings. Adjustments to reflect changes in fair values of derivatives that are considered highly effective hedges
are either reflected in earnings and largely offset by corresponding adjustments related to the fair values of the hedged items,
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FAS 123(R) in the third quarter of 2005, and to implement it on
a prospective basis. Information about the fair value of stock
options under the Black-Scholes model and its pro forma
impact on our net earnings and earnings per share for the year
ended December 31, 2004 can be found in the table above.

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the options’ estimated fair values are amortized to expense over the options’
vesting periods (see Note 11). The Corporation’s pro forma
information follows:
(In millions, except per share data)

2004

2003

2002

Income taxes — The Corporation periodically assesses its tax filing exposures related to periods that are open to examination.
Based on the latest available information, the Corporation
reflects in its consolidated financial statements its best estimate
of the tax liability and interest for those exposures where it is
probable that an adjustment will be sustained. The IRS recently
closed its examination of the Corporation’s tax returns through
December 31, 2002. The IRS plans to commence its examination
of the Corporation’s 2003 and 2004 Federal tax returns in 2005.

NET EARNINGS:

As reported
Fair value-based compensation
cost, net of taxes
Pro forma net earnings

$1,266
(48)

$1,053
(61)

$ 500
(67)

$1,218

$ 992

$ 433

$ 2.86
$ 2.75

$ 2.36
$ 2.22

$1.13
$0.97

$ 2.83
$ 2.72

$ 2.34
$ 2.20

$1.11
$0.96

EARNINGS PER BASIC SHARE:

As reported
Pro forma
EARNINGS PER DILUTED SHARE:

As reported
Pro forma

Comprehensive income — Comprehensive income (loss) for the
Corporation consists primarily of net earnings (loss) and the
after-tax impact of: adjustments to the minimum pension liability, reclassification adjustments related to available-for-sale
investments, and other activities related to hedging activities
and foreign currency translation. Income taxes related to components of other comprehensive income are generally recorded
based on a tax rate, including the effects of federal and state
taxes, of 37%.
The accumulated balance of $(1,532) million of other comprehensive income (loss) at December 31, 2004 primarily consists of the minimum pension liability of $(1,524) million.

The fair value for these options was estimated at the date
of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following weighted average assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Volatility factors related to expected
price of Lockheed Martin stock
Expected option life

2004

2003

2002

3.19%
1.50%

2.91%
1.00%

4.24%
1.00%

0.365
5 years

0.387
5 years

0.376
5 years

Recent accounting pronouncements — FAS 123(R), ShareBased Payments, was released by the FASB in December 2004.
The Corporation plans to adopt this new standard prospectively
in third quarter 2005. A brief description of FAS 123(R) appears
in the stock-based compensation section within this note.

The weighted average fair value of each option granted
during 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $15.76, $17.78 and $18.23,
respectively.
In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) issued FAS 123(R), Share-Based Payments, that,
upon implementation, will impact the Corporation’s net earnings and earnings per share, and change the classification of
certain elements of the statement of cash flows. FAS 123(R)
requires stock options and other share-based payments made to
employees to be accounted for as compensation expense and
recorded at fair value, and to reflect the related tax benefit
received upon exercise of the options in the statement of cash
flows as a financing activity inflow rather than an adjustment of
operating activity as currently presented. Consistent with the
provisions of the new standard, the Corporation intends to adopt
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NOTE 3 — EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic and diluted per share results for all periods presented
were computed based on the net earnings for the respective
periods. The weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period was used in the calculation of basic
earnings per share. The weighted average number of common
shares used in the calculation of diluted per share amounts is
adjusted for the dilutive effects of stock options based on the
treasury stock method.
Unless otherwise noted, all per share amounts cited in these
financial statements are presented on a “per diluted share”
basis.
The following table sets forth the computations of basic
and diluted earnings per share:

In May 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP)
106-2, Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the
Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization
Act of 2003. This FSP provides specific authoritative guidance
on the accounting for the federal subsidy to eligible sponsors of
retiree health care benefits provided under this law. Using this
guidance, the Corporation calculated a reduction in its accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation at December 31, 2004
of $295 million from the effects of the new law and, after application of government contracting regulations, doesn’t anticipate
a material impact on net earnings from the reduction in net periodic post-retirement benefits cost in 2005.
NOTE 2 — ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES
In November 2003, the Corporation and Affiliated Computer
Services, Inc. (ACS) completed transactions whereby the
Corporation acquired ACS’ federal government information
technology (IT) business, and ACS concurrently acquired the
Corporation’s commercial IT business. The total purchase price
related to the Corporation’s acquisition of ACS’ federal government IT business, including transaction-related costs, was
approximately $585 million. The accounting for the acquisition
included recording an intangible asset of $57 million related to
a covenant not to compete that will be amortized over five
years, an intangible asset of approximately $55 million related
to contracts and customer relationships acquired that will be
amortized over seven years, and goodwill of approximately
$460 million which is neither amortizable nor tax deductible.
The divestiture of the Corporation’s commercial IT business
resulted in a gain, net of state income taxes, of $15 million
which was recorded in other income and expenses. The gain
increased 2003 net earnings by approximately $8 million ($0.02
per share).
The Corporation reported a net loss from discontinued
operations of $33 million ($0.07 per share) in 2002. This
amount included losses incurred to complete wind-down activities related to the global telecommunications services businesses, offset by the reversal of a portion of a reserve pertaining
to various indemnity provisions in the 2001 agreement to sell
Lockheed Martin IMS. Risks associated with the indemnity
provisions were resolved and $39 million of the 2001 charge, net
of taxes, was reversed through discontinued operations in 2002.

2004

2003

Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

$1,266
—

$1,053
—

$ 533
(33)

Net earnings for basic and
diluted computations

$1,266

$1,053

$ 500

Average number of common shares
outstanding for basic computations
Dilutive stock options

443.1
4.0

446.5
3.5

445.1
6.9

Average number of common shares
outstanding for diluted computations

447.1

450.0

452.0

$ 2.86
—

$ 2.36
—

$ 1.20
(0.07)

$ 2.86

$ 2.36

$ 1.13

$ 2.83
—

$ 2.34
—

$ 1.18
(0.07)

$ 2.83

$ 2.34

$ 1.11

(In millions, except per share data)

2002

NET EARNINGS:

AVERAGE COMMON SHARES
OUTSTANDING:

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE:

Basic:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Diluted:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
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NOTE 4 — RECEIVABLES
(In millions)

2004

U.S. Government:
Amounts billed
$1,529
Unbilled costs and accrued profits
2,394
Less customer advances and progress payments (594)
Foreign governments and commercial:
Amounts billed
408
Unbilled costs and accrued profits
402
Less customer advances
(45)
$4,094

of $64 million and $57 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively, for the development and purchase, subject to certain conditions, of RD-180 booster engines used for Atlas
launch vehicles.
Inventories at December 31, 2004, also included deferred
costs related to upgrading a West Coast launch facility for the
Atlas V program. Under the contract with the U.S. Government,
the Corporation will recover these costs over future launches
from that facility.
In 2003, the Corporation recorded a charge, net of state
income tax benefits, of $41 million related to its decision to exit
the commercial mail sorting business. The charge, which
related primarily to the impairment of inventories of the business, reduced net earnings by $27 million ($0.06 per share).
Work in process inventories at December 31, 2004 and
2003 included general and administrative costs, including
independent research and development costs and bid and proposal costs, of $321 million and $424 million, respectively.
General and administrative costs charged to cost of sales from
inventories for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, including independent research and development costs
and bid and proposal costs, totaled $1.9 billion, $2.0 billion and
$1.7 billion, respectively.
Approximately $385 million of costs included in 2004
inventories, including amounts advanced to Khrunichev ($161
million) and certain Atlas V program costs, are expected to be
recovered after 2005.

2003
$1,421
2,351
(470)
335
448
(46)
$4,039

Substantially all of the December 31, 2004 unbilled costs
and accrued profits are expected to be billed during 2005.
NOTE 5 — INVENTORIES
(In millions)

Work in process, primarily related to long-term
contracts and programs in progress
Less customer advances and progress payments
Other inventories

2004

2003

$ 4,697 $ 5,434
(3,267) (3,396)
1,430
434

2,038
310

$ 1,864

$ 2,348

Inventories included amounts advanced to Khrunichev
State Research and Production Space Center (Khrunichev), the
Russian manufacturer of Proton launch vehicles and provider of
related launch services, of $301 million and $327 million at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, to provide launch
services. These amounts are net of a reserve recorded in 2002
related to the Corporation’s assessment of the probability of termination of certain launches under contract, as well as amounts
related to advances for launches not under contract. Advances
for launches not under contract are subject to an agreement
which provides for reduced future payments from Lockheed
Martin to Khrunichev on launches contingent on the receipt of
new orders as well as a minimum number of actual launches
each year, in lieu of the requirement to provide launch services.
The charge related to the reserve, net of state income tax benefits, was $173 million, and reduced 2002 net earnings by $112
million ($0.25 per share). In addition, commercial launch vehicle inventories included amounts advanced to RD AMROSS, a
joint venture between Pratt & Whitney and NPO Energomash,

NOTE 6 — PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(In millions)

Land
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

2004
$

95
3,593
4,972
8,660
(5,061)

$ 3,599

2003
$

106
3,365
5,198

8,669
(5,180)
$ 3,489

During the year ended December 31, 2004, the
Corporation recorded write-offs of fully depreciated property,
plant and equipment totaling $641 million.
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NOTE 7 — INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY SECURITIES
(In millions)

2004

2003

Equity method investments (ownership interest):
Intelsat, Ltd. (25%)
Other

$703
57

$ 729
94

760

823

—
46
6

133
96
8

52

237

$812

$1,060

Cost method investments (ownership interest):
New Skies Satellites, N.V. (16% in 2003)
Inmarsat Group Holdings, Ltd. (14%)
Other

In 2002, the Corporation recorded impairment charges
relating to its telecommunications investments, including
Intelsat, Inmarsat Ventures and New Skies. The charges reduced
operating profit, net earnings and earnings per share for the
year ended December 31, 2002 by $776 million, $504 million
and $1.12, respectively.
NOTE 8 — DEBT
The Corporation’s long-term debt is primarily in the form of
publicly issued, fixed-rate and variable-rate notes and debentures, as follows:
(In millions)
Notes due 4/01/2004
ESOP Notes Series A
due 4/04/2004
Notes due 6/15/2004
Notes due 6/15/2004
Notes due 12/01/2005
Notes due 5/15/2006
Medium Term Notes
due 2006-7
Notes due 6/15/2008
Notes due 12/01/2009
Debentures due 4/15/2013
Debentures due 5/01/2016
Debentures due 1/15/2023
Debentures due 9/15/2023
Notes due 6/15/2024
Debentures due 6/15/2025
Debentures due 5/01/2026
Debentures due 12/01/2029
Convertible Debentures
due 8/15/2033
Debentures due 5/01/2036
Other

Other equity method investments include United Space
Alliance, LLC (50% ownership interest) and other smaller joint
ventures in which the Corporation participates.
In January 2005, the sale of Intelsat, Ltd. to a private equity
firm was completed for $18.75 per share. The Corporation
received proceeds of approximately $750 million for its 25%
ownership of Intelsat.
In November 2004, a private equity firm purchased the outstanding shares of New Skies Satellites, N.V. The Corporation
sold its shares for $148 million and recognized a net gain of $59
million ($0.13 per share). The carrying value of the
Corporation’s investment in New Skies was marked to market
through other comprehensive income prior to the sale.
In December 2003, Inmarsat Ventures, Ltd. was acquired
by a consortium of private equity firms in a leveraged buyout
transaction. In exchange for its interest, the Corporation
received cash of $114 million and a 14% ownership interest in
the new Inmarsat holding company, Inmarsat Group Holdings,
Ltd., valued at $96 million. The Corporation recorded a
deferred gain of $42 million from the transaction, representing
the difference between the consideration received and the carrying value of its investment in Inmarsat Ventures of $168 million. During 2004, the Corporation received cash from Inmarsat
Group Holdings amounting to $50 million reducing its investment to $46 million while maintaining its 14% ownership interest. The Corporation expects to recognize the deferred gain at
such time as it sells all or a portion of its ownership interest in
the new company.

Less current maturities

2004

Interest Rate

8.125%
8.47
7.45
7.625
7.95
7.25

$

—

2003
$

70

—
—
—
14
205

28
13
22
14
205

7.70 – 8.66
7.70
8.20
7.375
7.65
8.375
7.00
8.375
7.625
7.75
8.50

64
105
327
150
600
100
200
216
150
423
1,250

64
390
993
150
600
100
200
216
150
423
1,250

LIBOR -0.25
7.20

1,000
300
15

1,000
300
20

5,119
15

6,208
136

$5,104

$6,072

In the fourth quarter of 2004, the Corporation completed
tender offers to purchase for cash $285 million in principal
amount of its outstanding 7.70% notes due June 15, 2008 and
$666 million in principal amount of its 8.20% notes due
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has irrevocably elected and agreed to pay only cash in lieu of
common stock for the accreted principal amount of the debentures in respect of its conversion obligations described above.
The Corporation previously had the right to elect to pay cash or
common stock, or a combination of cash and common stock,
for the accreted principal amount. The Corporation has retained
the right, however, to elect to satisfy any and all conversion
obligations in excess of the accreted principal amount of the
debentures in cash or common stock or a combination of cash
and common stock. The Corporation also has the right to redeem
any or all of the debentures at any time after August 15, 2008.
In December 2002, the Corporation recorded a charge, net of
state income tax benefits, of $163 million related to its investment
in Space Imaging, LLC and its guarantee of up to $150 million of
Space Imaging’s borrowings under a credit facility that matured
on March 30, 2003. On March 31, 2003, the Corporation paid
$130 million to acquire Space Imaging’s outstanding borrowings
under Space Imaging’s credit facility, and the guarantee was eliminated. The Corporation therefore reversed, net of state income
taxes, approximately $19 million of the charge recorded in
December 2002, representing the unutilized portion of the credit
facility covered by its guarantee. This gain increased 2003 net
earnings by $13 million ($0.03 per share).
The registered holders of $300 million of 40-year
debentures issued in 1996 may elect, between March 1 and
April 1, 2008, to have their debentures repaid by the
Corporation on May 1, 2008.
A leveraged employee stock ownership plan (ESOP) incorporated into the Corporation’s salaried savings plan borrowed
$500 million through a private placement of notes in 1989. These
notes were repaid in quarterly installments concluding in 2004.
At December 31, 2004, the Corporation had in place a $1.5
billion revolving credit facility, which expires in July 2009, and
a $500 million revolving credit facility, which expires in July
2005. There were no borrowings outstanding under either facility at that date. Borrowings under the credit facilities would be
unsecured and bear interest at rates based, at the Corporation’s
option, on the Eurodollar rate or a bank defined Base Rate.
Each bank’s obligation to make loans under the credit facilities
is subject to, among other things, the Corporation’s compliance
with various representations, warranties and covenants, including
covenants limiting the ability of the Corporation and certain of

December 1, 2009. The Corporation recorded a charge, net of
state income tax benefits, totaling $154 million in other income
and expenses related to the tender offers. The charge reduced
2004 net earnings by $100 million ($0.22 per share).
In the third quarter of 2003, the Corporation completed a
tender offer to purchase for cash any and all of its outstanding
7.25% notes due May 15, 2006 and 8.375% debentures due
June 15, 2024. The Corporation retired a total principal amount
of $720 million of the notes and debentures. In addition, the
Corporation repurchased $251 million of outstanding longterm debt in the open market. The Corporation recorded a
charge, net of state income tax benefits, totaling $127 million
in other income and expenses related to the tender offer and open
market purchases. The charge reduced 2003 net earnings by $83
million ($0.18 per share). Earlier in 2003, the Corporation issued
irrevocable redemption notices for and repaid two issuances of
callable debentures totaling $450 million. The Corporation
recorded a charge in other income and expenses, net of state
income tax benefits, of $19 million related to the early repayment
of these two issuances of debt. The charge reduced 2003 net earnings by $13 million ($0.03 per share).
In August 2003, the Corporation issued $1.0 billion in
floating rate convertible debentures due in 2033. The debentures bear interest at a rate equal to three-month LIBOR less 25
basis points, reset quarterly. The interest rate in effect at
December 31, 2004 was 2.04%. Interest on the debentures is
payable quarterly through August 15, 2008, after which the
interest will accrue as part of the value of the debenture and will
be payable, along with the principal amount of the debenture, at
maturity. The debentures are convertible by holders into shares
of the Corporation’s common stock on a contingent basis under
the circumstances described in the indenture related to these
securities as discussed below. Absent certain events not currently anticipated, the debentures are not convertible unless the
price of the Corporation’s common stock is greater than or
equal to 130% of the applicable conversion price for a specified
period during a quarter. The conversion price was $75.00 per
share at December 31, 2004, and is expected to change over
time as provided for in the indenture agreement.
In December 2004, the Corporation entered into a First
Supplemental Indenture with respect to these securities. Under
the terms of the First Supplemental Indenture, the Corporation
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its subsidiaries to encumber assets and a covenant not to exceed
a maximum leverage ratio.
The Corporation’s scheduled long-term debt maturities for
the five years following December 31, 2004 are: $15 million in
2005; $237 million in 2006; $32 million in 2007; $105 million
in 2008; $327 million in 2009; and $4,403 million thereafter.
The estimated fair values of the Corporation’s long-term
debt instruments at December 31, 2004, aggregated approximately $6.3 billion, compared with a carrying amount of
approximately $5.1 billion. The fair values were estimated
based on quoted market prices for those instruments that are
publicly traded. For privately placed debt, the fair values were
estimated based on the quoted market prices for similar issues,
or on current rates offered to the Corporation for debt with similar remaining maturities. Unless otherwise indicated elsewhere
in the notes to the financial statements, the carrying values of
the Corporation’s other financial instruments approximate their
fair values.
Interest payments were $420 million in 2004, $519 million
in 2003 and $586 million in 2002.

A reconciliation of income tax expense computed using the
U.S. federal statutory income tax rate of 35% to actual income
tax expense is as follows:
(In millions)

Income tax expense at the U.S. federal
statutory tax rate
$ 582
(Reduction) increase in tax expense from:
Closure of IRS examinations
(144)
Extraterritorial income exclusion benefit (43)
Revisions to prior years’ estimated
liabilities
(4)
R&D tax credit settlement
—
Other, net
7
Actual income tax expense

2004

2003

2002

Federal income taxes:
Current
Deferred

$445
(58)

$ (14)
467

$ 469
(463)

387
11

453
26

6
38

$398

$479

$ 44

Total federal income taxes
Foreign income taxes
Total income taxes provided

$ 398

2003

2002

$536

$202

—
(46)

(24)
(42)

(28)
—
17

(38)
(90)
36

$479

$ 44

The reduction in income tax expense of $144 million in
2004 from the closure of an IRS examination primarily resulted
from the examination of tax periods through December 31, 2002.
In 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act (the Act) was
passed. Over a transition period beginning with 2005, the Act
phases out the Extraterritorial income (ETI) exclusion benefit
for export sales and phases in a new tax deduction for computing taxable profits from the sale of products manufactured in
the United States. The Corporation expects that the tax benefits
realized from this new tax legislation will be substantially
equivalent to the benefits realized under the ETI exclusion. In
accordance with FAS 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, and
FSP 109-1, Application of FAS 109 to the Tax Deduction on
Qualified Production Activities Provided by the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004, the benefit provided by the new tax law
constitutes a special deduction, and accordingly the
Corporation was not required to revalue its deferred tax balances. The other provisions included in the Act are not expected
to have a significant impact on the Corporation’s tax rate or
payments.
Current income taxes payable of $28 million and $91 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, are included
in other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet.

NOTE 9 — INCOME TAXES
The provision for federal and foreign income taxes attributable
to continuing operations consisted of the following components:
(In millions)

2004

Net provisions for state income taxes are included in general and administrative expenses, which are primarily allocable
to government contracts. The net state income tax expense was
$78 million for 2004 and $38 million for 2003; and the net state
income tax benefit was $7 million for 2002.
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NOTE 10 — OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES, NET

The primary components of the Corporation’s federal
deferred income tax assets and liabilities at December 31 were
as follows:
(In millions)

Deferred tax assets related to:
Contract accounting methods
Accrued compensation and benefits
Accumulated post-retirement
benefit obligations
Pensions(a)
Basis differences of impaired investments
Other
Deferred tax liabilities related to:
Purchased intangibles
Property, plant and equipment
Pensions(a)

Net deferred tax assets

2004

2003

$ 689
460

$ 561
476

454
197
61
51

526
—
150
39

1,912

1,752

264
229
—

268
225
96

493

589

$1,419 (b)

$1,163(b)

(In millions)

Interest income
Equity in net earnings (losses)
of equity investees
Charge for early repayment of debt
Gain on sale of interest in New Skies
Gain on sale of COMSAT General
business
Space Imaging impairment and
related guarantee
Gain on sale of commercial IT business
Write-down of telecommunications
investments
Other activities, net

2004

2003

2002

$ 104

$ 75

$ 47

67
(154)
91

107
(146)
—

93
—
—

28

—

—

—
—

19
15

(163)
—

—
(15)

—
(27)

(776)
8

$ 121

$ 43

$(791)

NOTE 11 — STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND
RELATED ITEMS
Capital stock — At December 31, 2004, the authorized capital
of the Corporation was composed of 1.5 billion shares of common stock, 50 million shares of series preferred stock, and 20
million shares of Series A preferred stock. Of the approximately
440 million shares of common stock issued and outstanding,
approximately 438 million shares were considered outstanding
for balance sheet presentation purposes; the remaining shares
were held by the Corporation in trusts established to pay future
benefits to eligible retirees and dependents under certain benefit plans. No shares of the series preferred stock were issued
and no shares of the Series A preferred stock were outstanding
at December 31, 2004.
In October 2002, the Corporation announced a share repurchase program for the repurchase of up to 23 million shares of its
common stock from time-to-time. Under the program, management has discretion to determine the number and price of the
shares to be repurchased, and the timing of any repurchases in
compliance with applicable law and regulation. In February 2004,
an additional 20 million shares were authorized for repurchase
under the program. The Corporation repurchased approximately
14.7 million shares under the program in 2004 for $772 million,
10.7 million shares in 2003 for $482 million, and 1.0 million

(a) The change in deferred tax balances related to pensions was due to the
recording of an adjustment to increase the minimum pension liability in
2004 and the excess of FAS 87 expense over tax deductible payments.
(b) These amounts included $437 million and $242 million, respectively, of net
noncurrent deferred tax assets which are in other assets in the consolidated
balance sheet.

Federal and foreign income tax payments, net of refunds
received, were $363 million in 2004, $170 million in 2003 and
$55 million in 2002. Included in these amounts are tax payments
and refunds related to the Corporation’s divestiture activities.
The Corporation realized an income tax cash benefit of
$34 million in 2004, $13 million in 2003 and $140 million in
2002 as a result of exercises of employee stock options. This
benefit is recorded in stockholders’ equity under the caption,
“Stock awards and options, and ESOP activity.”
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periods or vesting following termination of employment in the
case of death, disability, divestiture, retirement or layoff. The
Award Plan does not impose any minimum vesting periods on
other types of awards. The maximum term of an option or any
other award is 10 years. The Award Plan allows the Corporation
to provide for financing by award recipients, other than executive officers, of the exercise or purchase price of common stock
underlying an award, subject to certain conditions, by interestbearing notes payable to the Corporation. There were no such
notes payable at December 31, 2004.
Prior to April 2003, the Corporation granted stock-based
and cash-based incentive awards pursuant to the Lockheed
Martin Corporation 1995 Omnibus Performance Award Plan
(the Omnibus Plan), which was approved by the stockholders in
March 1995. Awards under the Omnibus Plan were similar to
those authorized by the Award Plan except that the Omnibus
Plan did not include any minimum vesting requirements.
Under the Award Plan, 590,000 and 25,000 shares of
restricted common stock were issued in 2004 and 2003, respectively. No restricted common stock was awarded in 2002. The
shares were recorded based on the market value of the
Corporation’s common stock on the date of the award and the
related compensation expense is recognized over the vesting
period. Recipients are entitled to receive cash dividends and to
vote their respective shares, but are prohibited from selling or
transferring shares prior to vesting. The restricted shares generally vest over three to five year periods from the grant date. The
impact of restricted stock awards was not material to net earnings in 2004, 2003 or 2002.
In April 1999, the stockholders approved the Lockheed
Martin Directors Equity Plan (the Directors Plan).
Approximately 50% of each director’s annual compensation is
awarded under the Directors Plan. Directors of the
Corporation may elect to receive such compensation in the
form of stock units which track investment returns to changes
in value of the Corporation’s common stock with dividends
reinvested, options to purchase common stock of the
Corporation, or a combination of the two. The Directors Plan
requires that options to purchase common stock have an exercise price of not less than 100% of the market value of the
underlying stock on the date of grant. Except in certain circumstances, options and stock units issued under the
Directors Plan vest on the first anniversary of the grant. The
maximum term of an option is 10 years.

shares in 2002 for $50 million. As a result of this activity, a total
of 16.6 million shares may be repurchased in the future under
the program.
As part of its share repurchase program, the Corporation
may from time-to-time enter into structured share repurchase
transactions with financial institutions. These agreements generally require the Corporation to make an up-front cash payment in exchange for the right to receive shares of its common
stock or cash at the expiration of the agreement, dependent
upon the closing price of the Corporation’s common stock at the
maturity date. The Corporation entered into several such transactions during 2004 which, in the aggregate, required up-front
cash payments totaling $125 million. Based on the closing price
of its common stock on the maturity dates of the agreements, the
transactions resulted in the Corporation receiving cash payments,
and therefore did not result in the repurchase of any shares of its
common stock. The net impact of the transactions was not material to earnings, cash flows or financial position. There were no
such transactions outstanding at December 31, 2004.
Stock option and award plans — In April 2003, the stockholders approved the Lockheed Martin 2003 Incentive Performance
Award Plan (the Award Plan). Under the Award Plan, employees of the Corporation may be granted stock-based incentive
awards, including options to purchase common stock, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock or stock units. The maximum number of shares that may be subject to such stock-based
incentive awards in any calendar year is limited to 1.9% of the
Corporation’s common stock outstanding on the December 31
preceding the grant. The maximum number of shares that may
be issued as restricted stock is limited to 18% of the total number of shares authorized to be issued under the Award Plan.
Employees may also be granted cash-based incentive awards.
These awards may be granted either individually or in combination with other awards. The Award Plan requires that options
to purchase common stock have an exercise price of not less
than 100% of the market value of the underlying stock on the
date of grant. Under the Award Plan, no award of options may
become fully vested prior to the second anniversary of the grant
and no portion of an option grant may become vested in less
than one year, except for the 1.5 million of options specifically
exempted from vesting restrictions. The minimum vesting
period for restricted stock or stock units payable in stock is
three years. Award agreements may provide for shorter vesting
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Information regarding options outstanding at December 31,
2004 follows:

The Award Plan and the Directors Plan, as well as the number of shares of Lockheed Martin common stock authorized for
issuance under these plans, have been approved by the stockholders of the Corporation. At December 31, 2004, the number
of shares of Lockheed Martin common stock reserved for
issuance under the Corporation’s stock option and award plans
totaled 53.5 million.
The following table summarizes stock option and restricted
stock activity related to the Corporation’s plans during 2004,
2003 and 2002:
Number of Shares
(In thousands)
Available
for
Options
Grant
Outstanding

Range of
Exercise Prices

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

December 31, 2001

18,870

38,397

$34.12

Options granted
Options exercised
Options terminated

(7,049)
—
554

7,049
(14,231)
(581)

50.45
30.76
35.55

December 31, 2002

12,375

30,634

39.42

Additional shares reserved
Retired Omnibus Plan shares
Options granted
Options exercised
Options terminated
Restricted stock awards

22,500
(4,814)
(6,664)
—
29
(25)

—
—
6,664
(1,637)
(181)
—

—
—
51.08
26.96
49.12
—

December 31, 2003

23,401

35,480

42.14

Options granted
Options exercised
Options terminated
Restricted stock awards

(7,314)
—
160
(590)

7,314
(4,729)
(242)
—

49.27
34.23
51.66
—

December 31, 2004

15,657

37,823

44.44

Number of
Options
(In thousands)

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life
(In years)

Options outstanding:
Less than $20.00
$20.00–$29.99
$30.00–$39.99
$40.00–$50.00
Greater than $50.00

1,826
1,436
8,428
10,274
15,859

$18.13
27.50
36.08
48.14
51.05

5.0
2.9
4.5
7.0
6.6

Total

37,823

44.44

6.0

Options exercisable:
Less than $20.00
$20.00–$29.99
$30.00–$39.99
$40.00–$50.00
Greater than $50.00

1,826
1,436
8,428
3,110
11,579

$18.13
27.50
36.08
45.58
51.04

5.0
2.9
4.5
2.1
6.1

Total

26,379

42.06

4.9

Stock options granted in 2004 under the Award Plan and stock
options granted in 2003 under the Omnibus Plan have 10-year
terms and generally vest over a three-year service period. Options
granted in 2002 under the Omnibus Plan also have 10-year terms,
but generally vest over a two-year service period. Exercise prices
of options awarded for all years were equal to the market price of
the stock on the date of grant. Pro forma information regarding net
earnings and earnings per share as if the Corporation had
accounted for its employee stock options as compensation expense
under the fair value method is included in Note 1.

Approximately 26.4 million, 25.5 million and 19.6 million
outstanding options were exercisable by employees at
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
In January 2005, an additional 6.4 million options were
granted to employees.

NOTE 12 — POST-RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
Defined contribution plans — The Corporation maintains a
number of defined contribution plans with 401(k) features that
cover substantially all employees. Under the provisions of these
401(k) plans, employees’ eligible contributions are matched by
the Corporation at established rates. The Corporation’s matching obligations were $259 million in 2004, $238 million in
2003 and $232 million in 2002, the majority of which were
funded in Lockheed Martin common stock.
The Lockheed Martin Corporation Salaried Savings Plan is
a defined contribution plan with a 401(k) feature that includes
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Voluntary Employees’ Beneficiary Association trusts and
401(h) accounts, the assets of which will be used to pay expenses
of certain retiree medical plans) established to pay future benefits to eligible retirees and dependents. The Corporation uses
December 31 as its measurement date. Benefit obligations as of
the end of each year reflect assumptions in effect as of those
dates. Net pension and net retiree medical costs for each of the
years presented were based on assumptions in effect at the end
of the respective preceding year.
The following provides a reconciliation of benefit obligations, plan assets and funded status of the plans:

an ESOP. The ESOP purchased 34.8 million shares of the
Corporation’s common stock in 1989 with the proceeds from a
$500 million note issue which was guaranteed by the
Corporation. The Corporation’s match consisted of shares of its
common stock, which was partially fulfilled with stock released
from the ESOP at approximately 2.2 million shares per year
based upon the debt repayment schedule which concluded in
May 2004. Compensation costs recognized relative to the ESOP
shares were $56 million, $108 million and $134 million in 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively. The remainder of the Corporation’s
match to the Salaried Savings Plan was fulfilled through purchases of common stock from participant account balance reallocations or through newly issued shares from the Corporation.
Interest incurred on the ESOP debt totaled $1 million, $5 million and $10 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The
ESOP held approximately 46.2 million issued shares of the
Corporation’s common stock at December 31, 2004, all of which
were allocated to participant accounts. Unallocated common
shares held by the ESOP were considered outstanding for voting and other Corporate purposes, but excluded from weighted
average outstanding shares in calculating earnings per share.
For 2004, 2003 and 2002, the weighted average unallocated
ESOP shares excluded in calculating earnings per share totaled
approximately 0.2 million, 2.0 million and 4.4 million common
shares, respectively.
Certain plans for hourly employees include a non-leveraged ESOP. In one such plan, the match is made, generally at
the election of the participant, in either the Corporation’s common stock or cash which is invested at the participant’s direction
in one of the plan’s other investment options. The Corporation’s
contributions to these plans were made through small amounts
of newly issued shares from the Corporation or cash contributed to the ESOP trust which was used by the trustee, if so
elected, to purchase common stock from participant account
balance reallocations or in the open market for allocation to participant accounts. This ESOP trust held approximately 3.0 million issued and outstanding shares of common stock at
December 31, 2004.

Defined
Benefit
Pension Plans
(In millions)

2004

2003

Retiree Medical
and Life
Insurance Plans

2004

2003

CHANGE IN BENEFIT
OBLIGATIONS

Benefit obligations at
beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Benefits paid
Actuarial losses
Amendments
Divestitures
Participants’ contributions

$24,364 $21,918 $ 3,810 $ 3,316
743
640
49
40
1,497
1,453
225
211
(1,326) (1,296)
(355)
(344)
1,731
1,603
7
424
6
46
(2)
80
—
—
—
3
—
—
93
80

Benefit obligations at
end of year

$27,015

$24,364 $ 3,827 $ 3,810

CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS

Fair value of plan assets
at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Benefits paid
Corporation’s contributions
Participants’ contributions
Divestitures

$20,913 $17,661 $ 1,135 $ 906
2,047
3,876
150
216
(1,326) (1,296)
(355)
(343)
505
669
457
276
—
—
93
80
—
3
—
—

Fair value of plan assets
at end of year

$22,139

$20,913

$ 1,480 $ 1,135

Unfunded status of the plans $ (4,876) $ (3,451) $(2,347) $(2,675)
Unrecognized net
actuarial losses
6,603
5,486
1,008 1,122
Unrecognized prior
service cost
461
534
103
113
Unrecognized transition asset
—
(1)
—
—

Defined benefit pension plans, and retiree medical and life
insurance plans — Most employees are covered by defined benefit pension plans, and certain health care and life insurance
benefits are provided to eligible retirees by the Corporation.
The Corporation has made contributions to trusts (including

Net amount recognized
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Defined
Benefit
Pension Plans

2004

(In millions)

Retiree Medical
and Life
Insurance Plans

2003

2004

Post-retirement Benefits Other Than Pensions, related to the
Corporation’s plans include the following components:

2003
2004

(In millions)

AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED

2003

2002

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS

IN THE CONSOLIDATED

Service cost
$ 743 $ 640 $ 565
Interest cost
1,497
1,453
1,401
Expected return on plan assets
(1,698) (1,748) (2,162)
Amortization of prior service cost
79
79
72
Recognized net actuarial losses (gains)
264
62
(33)
Amortization of transition asset
(1)
(2)
(3)

BALANCE SHEET:

Prepaid assets
Accrued liabilities
Intangible asset
Accumulated other
comprehensive loss
related to minimum
pension liability

$ 1,030 $ 1,213 $
— $
—
(1,660) (1,100) (1,236) (1,440)
444
517
—
—

Net amount recognized

$ 2,188

Total net pension expense (income)
2,374

1,938

—

$

884 $

484

$ (160)

$

49 $
225
(88)
8
60

40 $
211
(69)
1
49

37
213
(89)
(4)
20

$

254 $

232 $

177

—

$ 2,568 $(1,236) $(1,440)

RETIREE MEDICAL AND
LIFE INSURANCE PLANS

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of prior service cost
Recognized net actuarial losses

The projected benefit obligations (PBO) for the
Corporation’s more significant defined benefit pension plans
exceeded the fair value of the plans’ assets at December 31,
2004 and 2003, as reflected in the table above.
At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Corporation’s consolidated balance sheet included pretax additional minimum
pension liabilities of $2.4 billion and $1.9 billion, respectively,
related to certain of its defined benefit pension plans. This liability is calculated on a plan-by-plan basis, and is required if the
accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) of the plan exceeds the
fair value of the plan assets and the plan’s accrued pension liabilities. The ABO for all defined benefit pension plans was
approximately $23 billion and $21 billion at December 31,
2004 and 2003, respectively.
For defined benefit pension plans in which the ABO was in
excess of the fair value of the plans’ assets, the PBO, ABO and
fair value of the plans’ assets were as follows:
(In millions)

Projected benefit obligation
Accumulated benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets

2004

2003

$17,051
14,792
13,132

$15,228
13,312
12,211

Total net post-retirement expense

The actuarial assumptions used to determine the benefit
obligations at December 31, 2004 and 2003 related to the
Corporation’s defined benefit pension and post-retirement benefit plans, as appropriate, are as follows:
Benefit Obligation
Assumptions

Discount rates
Rates of increase in future compensation levels

2004
5.75%
5.50

2003
6.25%
5.50

The actuarial assumptions used to determine the net expense
(income) related to the Corporation’s defined benefit pension and
post-retirement benefit plans for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002, as appropriate, are as follows:
Pension Cost Assumptions

The net pension cost as determined by FAS 87, Employers’
Accounting for Pensions, and the net post-retirement benefit
cost as determined by FAS 106, Employers’ Accounting for

Discount rates
Expected long-term rates of
return on assets
Rates of increase in future
compensation levels
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2004
6.25%

2003
6.75%

2002
7.25%

8.50

8.50

9.50

5.50

5.50

5.50
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and life insurance plans is to meet or exceed the rate of return
assumed for the plans for funding purposes over the long term.
The nature and duration of benefit obligations, along with
assumptions concerning asset class returns and return correlations, are considered when determining an appropriate asset
allocation to achieve the investment objectives.
Investment policies and strategies governing the assets of
the plans are designed to achieve investment objectives within
prudent risk parameters. Risk management practices include
the use of external investment managers and the maintenance of
a portfolio diversified by asset class, investment approach and
security holdings, and the maintenance of sufficient liquidity to
meet benefit obligations as they come due.
LMIMCO’s investment policies require that asset allocations of defined benefit pension plans be maintained within the
following ranges:

The long-term rate of return assumption represents the
expected average rate of earnings on the funds invested or to be
invested to provide for the benefits included in the benefit obligations. The long-term rate of return assumption is determined
based on a number of factors, including historical market index
returns, the anticipated long-term asset allocation of the plans,
historical plan return data, plan expenses and the potential to
outperform market index returns.
The decrease in the discount rate from 6.25% at December
31, 2003 to 5.75% at December 31, 2004 resulted in a $1.5 billion increase in the benefit obligations of the Corporation’s
defined benefit pension plans at December 31, 2004.
The medical trend rates used in measuring the post-retirement benefit obligation were 11.0% in 2004 and 10.0% in
2003, and were assumed to ultimately decrease to 5.0% by the
year 2011. An increase or decrease of one percentage point in
the assumed medical trend rates would result in a change in the
benefit obligation of approximately 5% and (5)%, respectively,
at December 31, 2004, and a change in the 2004 post-retirement
service cost plus interest cost of approximately 5% and (4)%,
respectively. The medical trend rate for 2005 is 10.1%.
The asset allocations of the Corporation’s plans at December 31,
2004 and 2003, by asset category, were as follows:
Defined
Benefit
Pension Plans

2004
Asset category:
Equity securities
Debt securities
Other

2003

Investment Groups

Equity securities
Non-U.S. equity securities
Debt securities
Cash
Other

2003

64%
32
4

63%
33
4

58%
41
1

64%
34
2

100%

100%

100%

100%

35–70%
0–25%
10–60%
0–35%
0–15%

Current policies for the plans target an asset mix of 65% in
total equity securities and 35% in debt and other securities.
Investment policies for all plans limit the use of alternative
investments and derivatives. Investments in alternative asset
classes or structures (e.g., real estate, private equity, hedge
funds and commodities) are limited to 15% of plan assets.
Investments in derivatives are subject to additional limitations
and constraints, including a maximum notional value of futures
of no more than 5% of plan assets. Use of derivatives to create
leverage is prohibited.
Equity securities purchased by external investment managers and included in the assets of the defined benefit pension
plans included the Corporation’s common stock in the amounts
of $16 million (less than 0.08% of total plan assets) and $14 million (less than 0.07% of total plan assets) at December 31, 2004
and 2003, respectively. Equity securities included in the assets of
the retiree medical and life insurance plans included less than $1
million (less than 0.03% of total plan assets) of the Corporation’s
common stock at both December 31, 2004 and 2003.

Retiree Medical
and Life
Insurance Plans

2004

Asset Allocation Ranges

Lockheed Martin Investment Management Company
(LMIMCO), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation, has
the fiduciary responsibility for making investment decisions
related to the assets of the Corporation’s defined benefit pension plans and retiree medical and life insurance plans.
LMIMCO’s investment objectives for the assets of the defined
benefit pension plans are to minimize the net present value of
expected funding contributions and to meet or exceed the rate
of return assumed for plan funding purposes over the long term.
The investment objective for the assets of the retiree medical
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NOTE 14 — LEGAL PROCEEDINGS, COMMITMENTS
AND CONTINGENCIES
The Corporation or its subsidiaries are parties to or have property subject to litigation and other proceedings, including matters arising under provisions relating to the protection of the
environment. The results of legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty. In the opinion of management and inhouse counsel, the probability is remote that the outcome of
these matters will have a material adverse effect on the
Corporation’s consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows. These matters include the following items,
all of which have been previously reported:
A class action complaint alleging violations of the securities laws filed against the Corporation and certain of its officers
and directors in the United States District Court for the Central
District of California, In re Lockheed Martin Corp. Securities
Litigation, was dismissed on March 26, 2003. On February 23,
2005, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit affirmed
the District Court’s order dismissing the case. The plaintiffs may
seek an en banc review by the Ninth Circuit or file a petition for
a writ of certiorari with the United States Supreme Court.
The Corporation was named as a defendant in a lawsuit
filed in the United States District Court for the District of Idaho
by Lockheed Martin Idaho Technologies Company, as the
Department of Energy (DoE) management contractor at the
Idaho National Engineering and Environmental Laboratory, in
connection with the termination of a contract for the environmental remediation of Pit 9 at the site. On October 29, 2004, the
court rendered a decision upholding the termination for default
and rejecting the Corporation’s counterclaims. The court concluded that the Corporation must repay $54 million in progress
payments made under the contract, plus interest and legal fees,
and pay approximately $12 million in decontamination and
decommissioning costs. As a result of the court’s decision, the
Corporation recorded an after-tax charge in the fourth quarter
of 2004 of $117 million ($0.26 per share) for damages attributable to the decision and to write off the costs that it had previously assumed were recoverable.
On June 17, 2002, the Corporation was served with a grand
jury subpoena issued by the United States District Court for the
Central District of California. The subpoena sought documents
relating to an international sales agent engaged by Loral
Corporation in connection with the sale of synthetic aperture
radars to the Government of Korea in 1996. The Corporation is
cooperating with the investigation.

The Corporation generally refers to U.S. Government Cost
Accounting Standards (CAS) and Internal Revenue Code rules
in determining funding requirements for its pension plans. In
September and December 2004, the Corporation made discretionary prepayments totaling $485 million to the defined benefit plan pension trust, which will reduce its cash funding
requirements for 2005. In December 2004, the Corporation also
made a discretionary prepayment of $133 million to its retiree
medical and life insurance plans. In 2005, the Corporation
expects to contribute $70 million - $80 million to its defined
benefit pension plans and $190 million - $200 million to its
retiree medical and life insurance plans, after giving consideration to the 2004 prepayments.
The following benefit payments, which reflect expected
future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:
(In millions)

2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
Years 2010 –2014

Pension Benefits

$1,366
1,403
1,446
1,493
1,546
8,716

Other Benefits

$ 274
262
269
272
276
1,403

The Corporation sponsors nonqualified defined benefit
plans to provide benefits in excess of qualified plan limits. The
expense associated with these plans totaled $61 million in
2004, $60 million in 2003 and $54 million in 2002.
NOTE 13 — LEASES
Total rental expense under operating leases was $318 million,
$301 million and $235 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.
Future minimum lease commitments at December 31, 2004
for all operating leases that have a remaining term of more than
one year were approximately $1.1 billion ($251 million in 2005,
$184 million in 2006, $149 million in 2007, $116 million in
2008, $85 million in 2009 and $281 million in later years).
Certain major plant facilities and equipment are furnished by the
U.S. Government under short-term or cancelable arrangements.
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Force and the government of Boeing’s possession and use of
Lockheed Martin’s documents in the EELV and other competitions. The Corporation believes that the counterclaim is without
merit and moved to dismiss it.
On July 28, 2003, BAE SYSTEMS North America, Inc.
and BAE SYSTEMS Information and Electronic Systems
Integration, Inc. filed a lawsuit against the Corporation in the
Chancery Court for New Castle County in Delaware, seeking
damages of not less than $40 million. BAE seeks indemnification
from Lockheed Martin for BAE’s payment of a civil judgment
entered in 2001 and related costs arising from a lawsuit involving
one of the Aerospace Electronics Systems businesses purchased
by BAE from the Corporation in November 2000. Lockheed
Martin disputes the indemnification claim and is defending
against it.
Nine lawsuits have been filed against the Corporation as
a result of an incident in July 2003 at its aircraft parts manufacturing facility in Meridian, Mississippi, which resulted in
the deaths of seven of its employees and the wounding of eight
others. Six of the lawsuits were filed in the U.S. District Court
for the Southern District of Mississippi, and three lawsuits were
filed in the Circuit Court of Lauderdale County, Mississippi. The
lawsuits allege various torts, including wrongful death, intentional infliction of injury, negligent supervision and intentional
infliction of emotional distress. In addition, four of the actions
in federal court allege racial or gender discrimination. The
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit has accepted an
interlocutory appeal certified by the District Court from its
ruling in one of the lawsuits that the tort and wrongful death
claims are not barred by the exclusivity provisions of the
Mississippi worker’s compensation statute. In another of the
lawsuits, the Corporation’s request to file an interlocutory
appeal from a similar ruling by the Circuit Court for Lauderdale
County has been granted and the Corporation expects to file an
appeal with the Mississippi Supreme Court. The lawsuits are
proceeding during the pendency of the appeals, and the
Corporation continues to defend against them. In addition,
subsequent to the incident, 21 charges of race-related discrimination, one charge of sexual discrimination and one disability-related charge were filed by employees with the offices of
the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC).
The Jackson, Mississippi EEOC office has issued right to sue
letters allowing the complainants to pursue private litigation.

On February 6, 2004, the Corporation submitted a certified
contract claim to the United States seeking contractual indemnity for remediation and litigation costs (past and future) associated with its former facility in Redlands, California. The
claim was submitted pursuant to a claim sponsorship agreement
with The Boeing Company, executed in 2001, in Boeing’s
capacity as the prime contractor on the Short Range Attack
Missile (SRAM) program. The SRAM program, which formed
a significant portion of the Corporation’s work at the Redlands
facility, contained special contractual indemnities from the U.S.
Air Force, as authorized by Public Law 85-804. On August 31,
2004, the United States denied the claim. The Corporation’s
appeal of that decision is pending before the Armed Services
Board of Contract Appeals.
On August 28, 2003, the Department of Justice filed complaints in partial intervention in two previously reported lawsuits filed under the qui tam provisions of the Civil False
Claims Act in the United States District Court for the Western
District of Kentucky, United States ex rel Natural Resources
Defense Council, et al v. Lockheed Martin Corporation, et al,
and United States ex rel John D. Tillson v. Lockheed Martin
Energy Systems, Inc., et al. The Department alleges that
the Corporation committed violations of the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act at the Paducah Gaseous
Diffusion Plant by failing properly to handle, store, and transport hazardous waste and that it violated the False Claims Act
by purportedly misleading DoE officials and state regulators
regarding the nature and extent of environmental noncompliance at the plant. The Corporation believes the allegations are
without merit and is defending against them.
On June 10, 2003, Lockheed Martin filed a civil complaint
in the United States District Court for the Middle District of
Florida in Orlando against The Boeing Company and various
individuals. On May 24, 2004, the Corporation filed an
amended and supplemental complaint, which presently alleges
that the defendants solicited, acquired and used its proprietary
information during the competition for awards under the U.S.
Air Force’s EELV programs and others in violation of Federal
and state laws. On August 9, 2004, Boeing filed a six-count
counterclaim. The counterclaim alleges tortious interference
with business and contract, unfair and deceptive trade practices
under Florida law, and false advertising under the Lanham Act,
based on the Corporation’s purported disclosure to the U.S. Air
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At Redlands, California, in response to administrative
orders issued by the California Regional Water Quality Control
Board, the Corporation is investigating the impact and potential
remediation of regional groundwater contamination by perchlorates and chlorinated solvents and has submitted a plan
approved by the Regional Board to maintain public water supplies with respect to chlorinated solvents during the investigation. In 2004, the State of California established a public health
goal of six parts per billion (ppb) for the concentration of perchlorate in water, and elevated the perchlorate action level from
four ppb to six ppb. Although the six ppb public health goal is
not a legally enforceable drinking water standard, the Corporation
has developed and is in the process of implementing a preliminary remediation plan that would meet the six ppb goal if it
were to become a final enforceable standard.
The Corporation also is conducting remediation activities
pursuant to various consent decrees and orders relating to soil
or groundwater contamination at its former operations in
Burbank and Glendale, California and Great Neck, New York.
Under the Burbank and Glendale orders, the Corporation,
among other things, is obligated to construct and fund the operations of soil and groundwater treatment facilities through 2018
and 2012, respectively. Responsibility for the long-term operation of the Burbank and Glendale facilities has been assumed
by the respective localities. In addition, under an agreement
related to the Burbank and Glendale remediation activities, the
U.S. Government reimburses the Corporation in an amount
equal to approximately 50% of expenditures for certain remediation activities in its capacity as a PRP under the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and
Liability Act (CERCLA).

As described in the Environmental Matters discussion
below, Lockheed Martin is subject to federal and state requirements for protection of the environment, including those for
discharge of hazardous materials and remediation of contaminated sites. As a result, the Corporation is a party to or has its
property subject to various other lawsuits or proceedings
involving environmental matters. Due in part to their complexity
and pervasiveness, such requirements have resulted in the
Corporation being involved with related legal proceedings,
claims and remediation obligations.
In a related matter, the Corporation has been in litigation
with residents of Redlands, California since 1997 regarding
allegations of personal injury, property damage, and other tort
claims on behalf of individuals and putative classes of individuals arising from its alleged contribution to regional groundwater contamination. The California Supreme Court issued a final
decision on March 3, 2003 dismissing all of the class allegations. Trial preparations continue with respect to the 800 individual claimants in the matter, with the first trial of about 10-20
of these plaintiffs set for April 2005 in the California Superior
Court for San Bernardino County.
Environmental matters — The Corporation is involved in environmental proceedings and potential proceedings relating to
soil and groundwater contamination, disposal of hazardous
waste and other environmental matters at several of its current
or former facilities. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the aggregate amount of liabilities recorded relative to environmental
matters was approximately $420 million and $425 million,
respectively. About 60% of the liability relates to sites in
Redlands, Burbank and Glendale, California, and in Great
Neck, New York, mainly for remediation of soil and groundwater contamination. The remainder of the liability related to
other properties (including current operating facilities and certain facilities operated in prior years) for which the
Corporation’s obligation is probable and the financial exposure
can be estimated. In cases where a date to complete activities at
a particular environmental site cannot be estimated by reference
to agreements or otherwise, the Corporation projects costs over
a reasonable time frame not to exceed 20 years. The extent of
the Corporation’s financial exposure cannot in all cases be reasonably determined at this time. The Corporation also is pursuing claims for contribution to site clean-up costs against other
potentially responsible parties (PRPs), including the U.S.
Government.

Letters of credit and other matters — The Corporation has
entered into standby letter of credit agreements, surety bonds
and other arrangements with financial institutions primarily
relating to advances received from customers and/or the guarantee of future performance on certain of its contracts. The
Corporation had total outstanding letters of credit and other
arrangements aggregating approximately $3.0 billion at
December 31, 2004, and $3.9 billion at December 31, 2003.
Letters of credit and surety bonds are available for draw down
in the event of the Corporation’s nonperformance.
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NOTE 15 — INFORMATION ON BUSINESS SEGMENTS
The Corporation operates in five business segments: Aeronautics,
Electronic Systems, Space Systems, Integrated Systems &
Solutions (IS&S), and Information & Technology Services
(I&TS). In the following tables of financial data, the total of the
operating results of these business segments is reconciled to the
corresponding consolidated amount. With respect to the caption
“Operating profit,” the reconciling item “Net unallocated
Corporate expense” includes the FAS/CAS pension adjustment
(see discussion below), earnings and losses from equity investments, interest income, costs for stock-based compensation
programs, the effects of items not considered part of management’s evaluation of segment operating performance, Corporate
costs not allocated to the operating segments and other miscellaneous Corporate activities. For financial data other than
“Operating profit,” all activities other than those pertaining to
the principal business segments are included in “Other.”
The FAS/CAS pension adjustment represents the difference between pension expense or income calculated for financial reporting purposes under GAAP in accordance with FAS
87, and pension costs calculated and funded in accordance with
U.S. Government Cost Accounting Standards (CAS), which are
reflected in the business segment results. CAS is a major factor
in determining pension funding requirements for the
Corporation, and governs the extent of allocability and recoverability of pension costs on government contracts. The CAS
expense is recovered through the pricing of the Corporation’s
products and services on U.S. Government contracts, and therefore recognized in segment net sales. The results of operations
of the Corporation’s segments only include pension expense as
determined and funded in accordance with CAS rules.
Transactions between segments are generally negotiated
and accounted for under terms and conditions that are similar to
other government and commercial contracts; however, these
intercompany transactions are eliminated in consolidation and
for purposes of the presentation of “Net sales” in the related
table that follows. Other accounting policies of the business
segments are the same as those described in Note 1 —
Significant Accounting Policies.

Following is a brief description of the activities of the principal business segments:
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•

Aeronautics — Engaged in design, research and development, systems integration, production, support and
upgrade of advanced military aircraft and related technologies. Its customers include the military services of the
United States and allied countries throughout the world.
Major products and programs include the F-16 multi-role
fighter, F/A-22 air dominance, attack and multi-mission
combat aircraft, F-35 Joint Strike Fighter, C-130J tactical
airlift aircraft, C-5 strategic airlift aircraft, and support for
the F-117 stealth fighter and special mission and reconnaissance aircraft (e.g., P-3 Orion, S-3 Viking and U-2).
The Corporation also produces major components for the
F-2 fighter and is a co-developer of the C-27J tactical
transport and T-50 advanced jet trainer.

•

Electronic Systems — Engaged in the design, research,
development, integration and production of high performance systems for undersea, shipboard, land and airborne
applications. Major product lines include: missiles and fire
control systems; air and theater missile defense systems;
surface ship and submarine combat systems; anti-submarine
and undersea warfare systems; avionics and ground combat
vehicle integration; systems integration and program management for fixed and rotary-wing aircraft systems; radars;
platform integration systems; homeland security systems;
surveillance and reconnaissance systems; advanced aviation management; security and information technology
solutions; simulation and training systems; and postal
automation systems.

•

Space Systems — Engaged in the design, research, development, engineering, and production of satellites, strategic
and defensive missile systems and launch services. The
satellite product line includes both government and commercial satellites. Strategic and defensive missile systems
include airborne and missile defense technologies and fleet
ballistic missiles. Launch services include launches on
Atlas, Proton and Titan launch vehicles, and also include
the Space Shuttle’s external tank. In addition, the segment
has investments in joint ventures that are principally
engaged in businesses that complement and enhance other
activities of the segment.
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•

•

Integrated Systems & Solutions — Engaged in the design,
research, development, integration and management of
net-centric solutions supporting the command, control,
communications, computers, intelligence, surveillance and
reconnaissance (C4ISR) activities of the U.S. Department
of Defense (DoD), intelligence agencies, other federal
agencies and allied countries. IS&S provides technology,
full life-cycle support and highly specialized talent in the
areas of software and systems engineering, including
expertise in space, air and ground systems. IS&S serves as
the Corporation’s focal point for customers with joint and
net-centric operations requiring overarching architectures,
horizontal systems integration, software development and
inter-connected capabilities for the gathering, processing,
storage and delivery of on-demand information for mission
management, modeling, simulation and large-scale systems
integration. In that role, IS&S operates the Center for
Innovation, a newly established facility for modeling and
simulation.

Selected Financial Data by Business Segment

Information & Technology Services — Engaged in a wide
array of information technology (IT), IT-related, and other
technology services to federal agencies and other customers. Major product lines include: information technology integration and management; enterprise solutions,
application development, maintenance, and consulting for
strategic programs for the DoD and civil government agencies; aircraft and engine maintenance and modification
services; management, operation, maintenance, training,
and logistics support for military, homeland security and
civilian systems; launch, mission, and analysis services for
military, classified and commercial satellites; engineering,
science and information services for NASA; and research,
development, engineering and science in support of nuclear
weapons stewardship and naval reactor programs.

Net unallocated Corporate expense (b)

2004

2003

2002

$11,781
9,724
6,357
3,850
3,801

$10,202
8,991
6,021
3,420
3,174

$ 6,471
8,685
5,287
3,015
3,104

35,513
13

31,808
16

26,562
16

$35,526

$31,824

$26,578

$

$

$

(In millions)
NET SALES

Aeronautics
Electronic Systems
Space Systems
Integrated Systems & Solutions
Information & Technology Services
Total business segments
Other

OPERATING PROFIT (a)

Aeronautics
Electronic Systems
Space Systems
Integrated Systems & Solutions
Information & Technology Services
Total business segments

899
969
489
334
285
2,976

690
858
403
291
226
2,468

(887)

448
875
279
241
177
2,020

(449)

(862)

$ 2,089

$ 2,019

$ 1,158

$

$

$

INTERSEGMENT REVENUE

Aeronautics
Electronic Systems
Space Systems
Integrated Systems & Solutions
Information & Technology Services
Total business segments
Other

73
579
207
553
730

41
550
134
471
765

28
338
147
272
707

2,142
104

1,961
83

1,492
75

$ 2,246

$ 2,044

$ 1,567

$

$

$

DEPRECIATION AND
AMORTIZATION OF PROPERTY,
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Aeronautics
Electronic Systems
Space Systems
Integrated Systems & Solutions
Information & Technology Services
Total business segments
Other

469
42
$

66

105
162
134
28
40

511

89
160
120
29
42
440
40

$

480

74
153
108
34
36
405
28

$

433

Lockheed Martin Corporation

2004

(In millions)

2003

2002

(In millions)

AMORTIZATION OF

Aeronautics
Electronic Systems
Space Systems
Integrated Systems & Solutions
Information & Technology Services

2002

$ 1,526
1,221
1,167
101
13

$ 2,051
1,049
1,042
98
16

$ 2,412
816
1,238
57
19

$ 4,028

$ 4,256

$ 4,542

AMOUNTS IN EXCESS OF

$

50
47
8
14
14

Total business segments
Other

$

133
12
$

145

50
47
8
14
8

$

127
2
$

129

50
49
7
12
7

COSTS INCURRED

Aeronautics
Electronic Systems
Space Systems
Integrated Systems & Solutions
Information & Technology Services

125
—
$

125
(a) Operating profit included equity in net earnings (losses) of equity investees
as follows:

EXPENDITURES FOR PROPERTY,

(In millions)
Electronic Systems
Space Systems
Information & Technology Services
Total business segments
Other

(c)

Aeronautics
Electronic Systems
Space Systems
Integrated Systems & Solutions
Information & Technology Services

$

187
248
161
60
44

Total business segments
Other

$

210
204
143
35
41

700
69
$

ASSETS

2003

CUSTOMER ADVANCES AND

PURCHASED INTANGIBLES

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2004

769

$

633
54
$

687

205
200
147
34
44
630
22

$

(In millions)
FAS/CAS pension adjustment
Items not considered in segment
operating performance
Other
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$ 2,579
8,853
3,018
2,138
2,170

$ 3,061
8,740
2,986
2,223
2,342

$ 2,835
8,697
3,147
2,070
1,634

18,758
6,796

19,352
6,823

18,383
8,596

$25,554

$26,175

$26,979

$

$

$

Total business segments
Other (e)

—
5,128
453
1,317
994

$ 7,892

—
5,075
453
1,357
994

$ 7,879

2002
—
39
10
49
44
$
93
$

2004
$(595)

2003
$(300)

$

(215)
(77)
$(887)

(153)
4
$(449)

(1,112)
7
$ (862)

2002
243

For information regarding the items not considered in management’s evaluation of segment operating performance, see Notes 2, 5, 7, 8, 10 and 14
to the consolidated financial statements.
(c) Amounts exclude expenditures related to discontinued businesses totaling
$10 million in 2002.
(d) The Corporation has no significant long-lived assets located in foreign
countries.
(e) Assets primarily include cash, investments, deferred income taxes and the
prepaid pension asset.

GOODWILL

Aeronautics
Electronic Systems
Space Systems
Integrated Systems & Solutions
Information & Technology Services

2003
$ —
51
15
66
41
$ 107

(b) Net unallocated Corporate expense includes the following:

(d)

Aeronautics
Electronic Systems
Space Systems
Integrated Systems & Solutions
Information & Technology Services

2004
$ 5
71
16
92
(25)
$ 67

—
5,075
453
1,311
541

$ 7,380
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Net Sales by Customer Category
2004

(In millions)

2003

NOTE 16 — SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY
INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

2002

2004 Quarters

U.S. GOVERNMENT

Aeronautics
Electronic Systems
Space Systems
Integrated Systems & Solutions
Information & Technology Services

$ 7,876
7,909
5,180
3,742
3,589

$ 6,613
7,363
4,928
3,252
2,799

$ 4,483
6,910
4,303
2,804
2,735

$28,296

$24,955

$21,235

(In millions, except
per share data)

Net sales
Operating profit
Net earnings
Earnings per share

First

Second

Third

Fourth(a)

$8,347
536
291
0.65

$8,776
544
296
0.66

$8,438
561
307
0.69

$9,965
448
372
0.83

2003 Quarters
FOREIGN GOVERNMENTS (a)(b)

Aeronautics
Electronic Systems
Space Systems
Integrated Systems & Solutions
Information & Technology Services

COMMERCIAL

$ 3,896
1,731
4
29
94

$ 3,580
1,526
—
16
79

$ 1,971
1,657
—
51
76

$ 5,754

$ 5,201

$ 3,755

(In millions, except
per share data)

Net sales
Operating profit
Net earnings
Earnings per share

Total business segments
Other

$

9
84
1,173
79
118

$

9
102
1,093
152
296

$

17
118
984
160
293

1,463
13

1,652
16

1,572
16

$ 1,476

$ 1,668

$ 1,588

$35,526

$31,824

$26,578

$7,059
505
250
0.55

Second(c)

Third(d)

Fourth(e)

$7,709
470
242
0.54

$8,078
428
217
0.48

$8,978
616
344
0.77

(a) Net earnings for the fourth quarter of 2004 included the following items:
a charge related to Pit 9 litigation which decreased net earnings by $117
million ($0.26 per share); a charge related to the early repayment of debt
which decreased net earnings by $100 million ($0.22 per share); the closure of an IRS examination which increased net earnings by $144 million
($0.32 per share); a gain on the sale of interest in New Skies Satellites,
N.V. which increased net earnings by $59 million ($0.13 per share); and a
gain on the sale of COMSAT General business which increased net earnings by $4 million ($0.01 per share).
(b) Net earnings for the first quarter of 2003 included the following items:
a charge related to the early repayment of debt which decreased net earnings by $13 million ($0.03 per share); and partial reversal of a charge
recorded in 2002 related to Space Imaging which increased net earnings
by $13 million ($0.03 per share).
(c) Net earnings for the second quarter of 2003 included a charge related to
the Corporation’s decision to exit the commercial mail sorting business
which reduced net earnings by $27 million ($0.06 per share).
(d) Net earnings for the third quarter of 2003 included a charge related to the
early repayment of debt which decreased net earnings by $83 million
($0.18 per share).
(e) Net earnings for the fourth quarter of 2003 included a gain from the sale
of the Corporation’s commercial IT business which increased net earnings
by $8 million ($0.02 per share).

(b)

Aeronautics
Electronic Systems
Space Systems
Integrated Systems & Solutions
Information & Technology Services

First (b)

(a) Sales made to foreign governments through the U.S. Government are
included in the foreign governments category above.
(b) International sales, including export sales reflected in the foreign governments and commercial categories above, were approximately $6 billion,
$5.6 billion and $4.3 billion in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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2003(b)

2004(a)

(In millions, except per share data)

2002(c)

2001(d)

2000(e)

OPERATING RESULTS

Net sales
Cost of sales

$35,526
33,558

$31,824
29,848

Other income and expenses, net

1,968
121

1,976
43

1,949
(791)

1,543
(710)

1,660
(555)

Operating profit
Interest expense

2,089
425

2,019
487

1,158
581

833
700

1,105
919

Earnings from continuing operations before
income taxes
Income tax expense

1,664
398

1,532
479

577
44

133
90

186
663

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations

1,266
—

1,053
—

533
(33)

$ 1,266

$ 1,053

$

500

$

2.86
—

$

2.36
—

$

$

2.86

$

2.36

$

2.83
—

$

$

2.83

$

0.91

Net earnings (loss)

$26,578
24,629

$23,990
22,447

$24,541
22,881

43
(1,089)

(477)
(42)

$ (1,046)

$ (519)

1.20
(0.07)

$

0.10
(2.55)

$ (1.19)
(0.10)

$

1.13

$ (2.45)

$ (1.29)

2.34
—

$

1.18
(0.07)

$

0.10
(2.52)

$ (1.19)
(0.10)

$

2.34

$

1.11

$ (2.42)

$ (1.29)

$

0.58

$

0.44

$

0.44

$ 0.44

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE

Basic:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Diluted:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

CASH DIVIDENDS
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET DATA

Current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill
Purchased intangibles, net
Other assets

$ 8,953
3,599
7,892
672
4,438

$ 9,401
3,489
7,879
807
4,599

$10,626
3,258
7,380
814
4,901

$10,778
2,991
7,371
939
5,635

$13,339
2,941
7,479
1,073
5,594

Total

$25,554

$26,175

$26,979

$27,714

$30,426

Current maturities of long-term debt
Other current liabilities
Long-term debt
Other post-retirement benefit liabilities
Other liabilities
Stockholders’ equity

$

$

136
8,757
6,072
1,440
3,014
6,756

$ 1,365
8,456
6,217
1,480
3,596
5,865

$

$

Total

$25,554

$26,175

$26,979

$27,714

$30,426

438

446

455

441

431

11.9%

10.7%

6.1%

(3.7)%

0.4%

Cash provided by operating activities
Cash (used for) provided by investing activities
Cash (used for) provided by financing activities

$ 2,924
(708)
(2,166)

$ 1,809
(1,461)
(2,076)

$ 2,288
(539)
77

$ 1,825
139
(2,557)

$ 2,016
1,762
(2,728)

NEGOTIATED BACKLOG

$73,986

$76,899

$70,385

$71,269

$55,076

COMMON SHARES AT YEAR-END
RETURN ON INVESTED

CAPITAL(f)

15
8,551
5,104
1,236
3,627
7,021

89
9,600
7,422
1,565
2,595
6,443

882
9,420
9,065
1,647
2,252
7,160

CASH FLOW DATA
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NOTES TO FIVE YEAR SUMMARY
(a) Includes the effects of items not considered in senior management’s assessment of the operating performance of the Corporation’s business segment (see the
section, “Results of Operations” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations) which, on a combined basis,
decreased earnings from continuing operations before income taxes by $215 million, $154 million after-tax ($0.34 per share). Also includes a reduction in
income tax expense resulting from the closure of an Internal Revenue Service examination of $144 million ($0.32 per share). These items reduced earnings by
$10 million after-tax ($0.02 per share).
(b) Includes the effects of items not considered in senior management’s assessment of the operating performance of the Corporation’s business segment (see the
section, “Results of Operations” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations) which, on a combined basis,
decreased earnings from continuing operations before income taxes by $153 million, $102 million after-tax ($0.22 per share).
(c) Includes the effects of items not considered in senior management’s assessment of the operating performance of the Corporation’s business segment (see the
section, “Results of Operations” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations) which, on a combined basis,
decreased earnings from continuing operations before income taxes by $1,112 million, $632 million after-tax ($1.40 per share). In 2002, the Corporation
adopted FAS 142 which prohibits the amortization of goodwill.
(d) Includes the effects of items not considered in senior management’s assessment of the operating performance of the Corporation’s business segment which, on
a combined basis, decreased earnings from continuing operations before income taxes by $973 million, $651 million after-tax ($1.50 per share). Also includes
a gain from the disposal of a business and charges for the Corporation’s exit from its global telecommunications services business which is included in discontinued operations and which, on a combined basis, increased the net loss by $1 billion ($2.38 per share).
(e) Reflects the business combination with COMSAT Corporation effective August 2000. Includes the effects of items not considered in senior management’s
assessment of the operating performance of the Corporation’s business segments which, on a combined basis, decreased earnings from continuing operations
before income taxes by $685 million, $951 million after-tax ($2.36 per share).
(f) The Corporation defines return on invested capital (ROIC) as net income plus after-tax interest expense divided by average invested capital (stockholders’
equity plus debt). The Corporation believes that reporting ROIC provides investors with greater visibility into how effectively Lockheed Martin uses the capital
invested in its operations. The Corporation uses ROIC to evaluate multi-year investment decisions and as a long-term performance measure, and also plans to
use ROIC as a factor in evaluating management performance for incentive compensation purposes in 2005. ROIC is not a measure of financial performance
under generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S., and may not be defined and calculated by other companies in the same manner. ROIC should not be
considered in isolation or as an alternative to net earnings as an indicator of performance. The Corporation calculates ROIC as follows:
(In millions)
Net earnings
Interest expense (multiplied by 65%) 1
Return
Average debt 2,4
Average equity 3,4
Average invested capital
Return on invested capital

2004
$ 1,266
276
$ 1,542
$ 5,932
7,015
$12,947

2003
$ 1,053
317
$ 1,370
$ 6,612
6,170
$12,782

11.9%

10.7%

1

2002
500
378
$ 878
$ 7,491
6,853
$14,344

$

6.1%

Represents after-tax interest expense utilizing the federal statutory rate of 35%.
Debt consists of long-term debt, including current maturities, and short-term borrowings (if any).
3
Equity includes non-cash adjustments for other comprehensive losses, primarily for the additional minimum pension liability.
4
Yearly averages are calculated using balances at the start of the year and at the end of each quarter.
2
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2001
$ (1,046)
455
$ (591)
$ 8,782
7,221
$16,003
(3.7)%

2000
$ (519)
597
$
78
$11,385
6,703
$18,088
0.4%
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GENERAL INFORMATION
December 31, 2004

As of December 31, 2004, there were approximately
44,000 holders of record of Lockheed Martin common stock
and 440,445,630 shares outstanding.

COMMON STOCK
Stock symbol: LMT
Listed: New York Stock Exchange (NYSE)

COMMON STOCK PRICES

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
Stockholders may obtain, without charge, a copy of Lockheed
Martin’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission for the year ended
December 31, 2004 by writing to:
Lockheed Martin Investor Relations
6801 Rockledge Drive, Bethesda, MD 20817

(In dollars)

High

Low

Close

1st

52.19

43.10

45.64

2nd

52.50

45.73

52.08

3rd

56.00

51.05

55.78

4th

61.77

52.19

55.55

2004 Quarters

The CEO/CFO certifications required to be filed with the SEC
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act are included as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to our 2004 Annual Report on
Form 10-K. In addition, an annual CEO certification was submitted by the Corporation’s CEO to the NYSE on May 18,
2004 in accordance with the NYSE’s listing standards.

2003 Quarters
1st

58.95

40.64

47.55

2nd

51.66

43.32

47.57

3rd

55.00

44.09

46.15

4th

51.47

44.78

51.40

TRANSFER AGENT & REGISTRAR
EquiServe Trust Company, N.A.
Shareholder Services
P.O. Box 43010
Providence, Rhode Island 02940-3010
Telephone: 1-877-498-8861
TDD for the hearing impaired: 1-800-952-9245
Internet: http://www.equiserve.com

For accessing the Lockheed Martin Investor Relations
homepage on the Internet use the Uniform Resource Locator:
http://www.lockheedmartin.com/investor
Lockheed Martin Shareholder Direct
1-800-568-9758

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN
Lockheed Martin Direct Invest, our direct stock purchase and
dividend reinvestment plan, provides new investors and current stockholders with a convenient, cost-effective way to purchase Lockheed Martin common stock, increase holdings and
manage the investment. For more information about Lockheed
Martin Direct Invest, contact our transfer agent, EquiServe
Trust Company, N.A. at 1-877-498-8861, or to view plan
materials online and enroll electronically, access Internet site
http://www.shareholder.com/lmt/shareholder.cfm#drip.
Financial results, stock quotes, dividend news as well as other
Lockheed Martin information are available by calling the
above toll-free number. The information will be read to the
caller and certain of the information can also be received by
mail, fax or E-mail. You may also reach Shareholder Services
for account information or Investor Relations for additional
information on Lockheed Martin via the toll-free number.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Ernst & Young LLP
621 East Pratt Street
Baltimore, MD 21202
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS — SAFE HARBOR PROVISIONS

Statements in this Annual Report that, to the extent that they are not recitations of historical fact, are “forward-looking statements,” within the meaning of the federal securities laws, and are based on Lockheed Martin’s current expectations and assumptions.
The words “believe,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “project,” “intend,” “expect,” “plan,” “outlook,” “forecast” and similar expressions are
intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks
and uncertainties. Actual results could differ materially because of factors such as: the availability of government funding for our
products and services both domestically and internationally; changes in government and customer priorities and requirements
(including changes to respond to budgetary constraints and cost-cutting initiatives, terrorist threats and homeland security); the
impact of continued military operations in Iraq and Afghanistan, as well as other competing budget priorities on funding for existing defense programs; the award or termination of contracts; difficulties in developing and producing operationally advanced technology systems; the timing and customer acceptance of product deliveries; performance issues with key suppliers, subcontractors
and customers; financial market and other changes that may impact pension plan assumptions; charges from any future impairment
reviews that may result in the recognition of losses and a reduction in the book value of investments, goodwill or other long-term
assets; the future impact of legislation or changes in accounting or tax rules or pronouncements; the future impact of acquisitions
or divestitures, joint ventures or teaming arrangements; the outcome of legal proceedings and other contingencies (including lawsuits, government investigations or audits, and environmental remediation efforts); the competitive environment for defense and
information technology products and services; and economic, business and political conditions domestically and internationally.
These are only some of the factors that may affect the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report. For a discussion identifying additional important factors that could cause actual results to vary materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements, see the Corporation’s filings with the SEC including, but not limited to, the discussion of “Government
Contracts and Regulation” and “Risk Factors and Forward-Looking Statements” on page 15 and on pages 17 through 21 of the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 (Form 10-K), “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” on pages 17 through 38 of this Annual Report, and “Note 1 —
Significant Accounting Policies,” “Note 2 — Acquisitions and Divestitures,” and “Note 14 — Legal Proceedings, Commitments
and Contingencies” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements on pages
46 through 51, and pages 62 through 64, respectively, included in this Annual Report and included in the Form 10-K.
The Corporation’s actual financial results likely will be different from those projected due to the inherent nature of projections.
Given these uncertainties, you should not rely on forward-looking statements in making investment decisions. The forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report speak only as of the date of the Report. The Corporation expressly disclaims a duty
to provide updates to forward-looking statements after the date of this Annual Report to reflect the occurrence of subsequent events,
changed circumstances, changes in its expectations, or the estimates and assumptions associated with them. The forward-looking
statements in this Annual Report are intended to be subject to the safe harbor protection provided by the federal securities laws.
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POWERED BY INNOVATION AND GUIDED BY INTEGRITY,
LOCKHEED MARTIN APPLIES ITS VISION,
ITS PURPOSE AND ITS VALUES TO CUSTOMER PRIORITIES
Our Vision
To be the world’s best advanced technology systems integrator.

Our Purpose
To achieve Mission Success by attaining total
customer satisfaction and meeting all our commitments.

Our Values
Ethics • Excellence • “Can-Do” • Integrity • People • Teamwork

Achieving Results Through
Leadership and Teamwork
Commitment of Our People to Our Customers
Excellence as a Premier Systems Integrator
Innovation in Technology and Business
Alliances Worldwide
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